

Preventing and Responding to Violence Against Children and Adolescents

Theory of Change 2017

## Preventing and Responding to Violence Against Children and Adolescents

## Theory of Change



## for every child

Published by UNICEF Child Protection Section Programme Division 3 United Nations Plaza New York, NY 10017

Email: childprotection@unicef.org www.unicef.org

© United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) October 2017

Permission is required to reproduce any part of this publication. For more information on usage rights, please contact nyhqdoc.permit@unicef.org

Cover photo: © UNICEF/UN028929/Esiebo

Design and layout by Roberto C. Rossi Rob.C.Rossi@gmail.com

## Acknowledgements

This document was produced by the UNICEF Child Protection Section. It was prepared by Sarah Bott (primary author), an independent consultant, and Anna Azaryeva Valente, UNICEF Child Protection Specialist. Theresa Kilbane, UNICEF Senior Adviser on Child Protection, provided technical advice, guidance and review.

The document was enriched by contributions from many individuals and teams from all UNICEF regional offices, a number of country offices and headquarters, as well as external partners. Among those contributing were staff from the Programme Division (Child Protection, Education, Health, Social Inclusion and Policy, Early Childhood Development, Adolescent Development and Participation, Gender and Development, Disability, and Communication for Development sections); Division of Data, Research and Policy (Data and Analytics section), Division of Communication; and Office of Research.

Special thanks to all individuals and teams who contributed, including: Mercy Agbai, Gbemisola Akinboyo, Patty Alleman, Jean Francois Basse, Jose Bergua, Stephen Blight, Amandine Inna Renee Bollinger, Sujata Bordoloi, Anjan Bose, Katlin Brasic, Pia Britto, Andrew Brooks, Anna Burlyaeva, Claudia Cappa, Isabella Castrogiovanni, Benoit d'Ansembourg, Clarice Da Silva e Paula, Judith Diers, Lely Djuhari, Joanne Dunn, Eri Dwivedi, Nora Fyles, Leisa Gibson, Peter Gross, Kendra J. Gregson, Jonna Karlsson, Charlotte Lapsansky, Sena Lee, Jean-Claude Legrand, Anthony MacDonald, Anju Malhotra, Changu Mannathoko, Hani Mansourian, Mendy Marsh, Mary Catherine Maternowska, Kerida McDonald, Cecile Modvar, Rafael Obregon, Tomoo Okubo, Roger Pearson, Luwei Pearson, Eric Ribaira, Eduardo Garcia Rolland, Lieve Sabbe, Clara Sommarin, David Stewart, Ramatou Toure, Denise Ulwor, Catharine Way, Cornelius Williams, Alexandra Yuster and Jérôme Pfaffmann Zambruni.

We also sincerely thank UNICEF Mexico and UNICEF Egypt for undertaking dedicated crosssectoral workshops to test and adapt the package.

# Contents

I. Introduction	1
Purpose	1
Background and rationale	1
How this theory of change builds on previous work	3
Definitions of violence against girls and boys	6
Magnitude and consequences of violence against children and adolescents	8
Risk factors and drivers of violence	10
Girls and boys in vulnerable situations	11
Drivers and risk factors at higher levels of the ecological framework	11
Consequences of violence	12
2. Proposed Theory of Change	
Cross-cutting principles and assumptions	13
Levels of intervention: The socio-ecological model	14
Conceptual frameworks and schematic of the theory of change	15
Narrative summary of the theory of change	20
Vision and impact/goal statements	20
Overall structure of the outcomes and outputs	
Cross-cutting outcomes: Macro-level structural factors and contexts	21
National, evidence-based, coordinated multisectoral action	22
Legal and policy frameworks	
Systems and institutions: Prevention and reporting mechanisms and response services across all sectors	
Sector-specific outcomes, outputs and strategies	
Society/communities	
Households and families	
Mothers, fathers and other caregivers	
Girls, boys and adolescents	
ANNEX A. Theories of change and results frameworks that informed this document	44
ANNEX B. Risk and protective factors associated with violence against girls and boys, including adolescents	
ANNEX C. Summary of priority strategies for action	48
ENDNOTES	

#### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Selected forms of violence according to the most likely age of occurrence	9
Figure 2	Socio-ecological model for understanding violence against children and adolescents	15
Figure 3	Steps in strengthening and implementing legal and policy frameworks	28

#### LIST OF BOXES

Box 1	Key recommendations from the 2015 evaluation of UNICEF's work on violence against children	1
Box 2	Select global and regional evidence reviews about how to prevent and respond to violence against children	4
Box 3	Definitions of key forms of violence against children and adolescents	.6
Box 4	Selected UNICEF publications on violence against girls and boys	.8
Box 5	Selected SDG indicators related to violence against children and adolescents	.9
Box 6	The complex link between poverty and violence	39

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Selected examples of SDG targets focused on ending violence or harmful	
	practices against girls and boys, including adolescents	2



# I. Introduction

## PURPOSE

This document presents an overarching, multisectoral theory of change to guide UNICEF's work on preventing and responding to violence against girls, boys and adolescents. The purpose is to provide a strategic vision that describes pathways of change, proposes a package of evidence-based strategies and articulates a chain of results, both to prevent violence and to improve the lives of child and adolescent victims when violence occurs.

This theory of change gives particular attention to forms of violence against children measured by the Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) indicators, including violent discipline (physical punishment and verbal aggression) and sexual violence, reflecting UNICEF's commitment to make measurable progress in those domains.<sup>1</sup> However, it is designed to be broad enough to address all forms of physical, sexual and emotional/ psychological violence against girls and boys – including in settings affected by armed conflict and other emergencies. The proposed results, strategies and indicators in this theory of change focus on changes at the country level, which may be particularly relevant for UNICEF country office staff. However, indicators may be aggregated to monitor results at regional and global levels.

### BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE

The right of all girls and boys to protection from all forms of violence has been enshrined in international human rights treaties, including the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC):

Article 19. States Parties shall take all appropriate legislative, administrative, social and educational measures to protect the child from all forms of physical or mental violence, injury or abuse, neglect or negligent treatment, maltreatment or exploitation, including sexual abuse...

### BOX 1

# Key recommendations from the 2015 evaluation of UNICEF's work on violence against children

- Make violence against children an organizationwide, multisectoral priority and agree on an overarching theory of change and core indicators for measuring violence prevention and response actions.
- 2. Launch a multisectoral road map to reduce violence against children and translate it into regional road maps.
- 3. Strengthen context-specific advocacy and resource mobilization, based on evidence.
- 4. Accelerate the roll-out of the systems strengthening approach to preventing and responding to violence against children.
- 5. Renew the focus on preventing violence including through addressing social norms.
- 6. Improve the focus on gender and equity approaches.
- 7. Institutionalize child protection systems mapping and strategically plan for follow-up research and data initiatives.
- 8. Develop a web-based knowledge networking platform.

Preventing and responding to violence has long been an important part of UNICEF's work, particularly in the areas of research, advocacy, child protection and education. Nonetheless, a 2015 independent evaluation noted fragmentation in UNICEF's work on violence (see Box 1). That evaluation recommended that UNICEF develop an overarching theory of change for preventing and responding to violence against children, including attention to strategies, results and indicators.<sup>2</sup> The rationale for an overarching approach to violence is supported by evidence that girls and boys often experience multiple types of violence, sometimes referred to as 'polyvictimization'.<sup>3</sup> It also responds to evidence that research, policies and programmes that focus on one form of violence in isolation may overlook important links to and risks and consequences of other forms of violence during childhood and across the lifespan.<sup>4</sup>

A re-examination of UNICEF's work on preventing and responding to violence against girls, boys and adolescents may be particularly important at this moment in time, given the following:

 United Nations (UN) Member States have signalled a renewed political commitment to address violence against girls and boys by agreeing to support the SDGs, including their targets and indicators. Many SDGs and their targets address drivers and risk factors associated with violence, including those focused on promoting peaceful and inclusive societies (Goal 16), as well as those related to poverty, health, education, inequality and sustainable communities. Several SDG targets mention violence against girls and/or boys specifically (see Table 1), and UNICEF has made a commitment to help countries achieve measurable progress in these areas.

- To capitalize on this new opening to address violence, a Global Partnership to End Violence against Children (www.end-violence.org) was launched in 2016. The Global Partnership aims to facilitate collaboration among governments, UN agencies, civil society groups, philanthropic foundations, academia and girls and boys themselves. As a founding member, UNICEF has an opportunity and a responsibility to consider how to contribute to this new platform.
- In 2016, UNICEF collaborated with the World Health Organization (WHO) and other international partners to develop a technical package titled 'INSPIRE: Seven strategies to end violence against children',<sup>5</sup> based on global evidence about effective or at least

#### TABLE 1

Selected examples of SDG targets focused on ending violence or harmful practices against girls and boys, including adolescents.

16 PEACE JUSTICE AND STRONG INSTITUTIONS	Goal 16. Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels.	Target 16.1 Significantly reduce all forms of violence and related death rates everywhere. Target 16.2 End abuse, exploitation, trafficking and all forms of violence against and torture of children.
5 GENDER EQUALITY	Goal 5. Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls.	<ul><li>Target 5.2 Eliminate all forms of violence against all women and girls in the public and private spheres, including trafficking and sexual and other types of exploitation.</li><li>Target 5.3 Eliminate all harmful practices, such as child, early and forced marriage and female genital mutilation.</li></ul>
4 QUALITY EDUCATION	Goal 4. Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all.	Target 4.A Build and upgrade education facilities that are child, disability and gender sensitive and provide safe, non-violent, inclusive and effective learning environments for all.

**INSPIRE:** Seven Strategies for Ending Violence against Children



In 2016, UNICEF collaborated with the World Health Organization (WHO) and other international partners to develop a technical package titled 'INSPIRE: Seven strategies to end violence against children

promising strategies for preventing and responding to violence against girls and boys. This collaboration provides an opportunity for UNICEF to review their work on violence in light of global evidence and the work of partner agencies.

 UNICEF is developing a new Strategic Plan for 2018-2021. This effort provides an opportunity to review and strengthen results, indicators and strategies relevant to violence against girls and boys at global, regional and country levels.

## HOW THIS THEORY OF CHANGE BUILDS ON PREVIOUS WORK

This document builds on many previous theories of change and results frameworks related to violence

against girls, boys and adolescents. These include UNICEF's past strategic plans and results frameworks for specific types or dimensions of violence, such as sexual abuse and exploitation of children, gender-based violence in emergencies, sexual and gender-based violence in education, child marriage, children's access to justice, peacebuilding and female genital mutilation/cutting (FGM/C) (see Annex A).

Given the broad scope of this theory of change, it provides a concise overview rather than a comprehensive review of evidence about how to prevent and respond to violence against girls and boys. However, it benefits from many recent international efforts to synthesize what is known about approaches that are effective or at least promising, including reviews by UNICEF, partner agencies, governments and academic researchers (see Box 2).

#### BOX 2

# Select global and regional evidence reviews about how to prevent and respond to violence against children

#### Violence against children generally

UNICEF, *Toward a World Free from Violence: Global Survey on Violence against Children*. UNICEF and the Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children, New York, 2013. http://srsg.violenceagainstchildren.org/publications

UNICEF, *Ending Violence against Children: Six Strategies for Action*. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef.org/publications/index\_74866.html

UNICEF, *Child Protection from Violence, Exploitation and Abuse: Thematic Report.* UNICEF, New York, 2013. www.unicef.org/publicpartnerships/files/Child\_Protection\_from\_Violence\_Exploitation\_and\_Abuse\_2013\_ Thematic\_Report.pdf

WHO, *INSPIRE: Seven Strategies for Ending Violence against Children*. World Health Organization, CDC, Global Partnership to End Violence Against Children, PAHO, PEPFAR, Together for Girls, UNICEF, UNODC, USAID, World Bank, Geneva, 2016. www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/media/news/2016/12\_07/en/

#### Child maltreatment

Knerr, Wendy, Frances Gardner and Lucie Cluver, *Parenting and the Prevention of Child Maltreatment in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review of Interventions and a Discussion of Prevention of the Risks of Future Violent Behaviour among Boys.* Sexual Violence Research Initiative, Medical Research Council and the Oak Foundation, Pretoria, 2011. www.svri.org/parenting.pdf

Knerr, Wendy, Frances Gardner and Lucie Cluver, 'Improving Positive Parenting Skills and Reducing Harsh and Abusive Parenting in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review', *Prevention Science*, vol. 14, no. 4, 2013, pp. 352-363.

Mikton, Chris and Alexander Butchart, 'Child Maltreatment Prevention: A Systematic Review of Reviews', *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, vol. 87, no. 5, 2009, pp. 353-361.

Skeen, S. and M. Tomlinson, 'A Public Health Approach to Preventing Child Abuse in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Call for Action', *International Journal of Psychology*, vol. 48, no. 2, 2013, pp. 108-116.

#### Violence and neglect in early childhood

Landers, Cassie, *Preventing and Responding to Violence, Abuse, and Neglect in Early Childhood: A Technical Background Document*. Child Protection Section, UNICEF, New York, 2013. www.unicef.org/protection/files/ Report\_on\_preventing\_and\_responding\_to\_violence\_in\_early\_childhood\_2013\_Cassie\_Landers.pdf

UNICEF, Compendium of Promising Practices to Ensure that Children under the Age of Three Grow up in a Safe and Supportive Family Environment. UNICEF Regional Office for Central and Eastern Europe and the Commonwealth of Independent States, Geneva, 2015. www.unicef.org/ceecis/UNICEF\_Compendium\_of\_promising\_practices\_Web.pdf

#### BOX 2 (cont.)

#### Sexual abuse and exploitation of children

Radford, Lorraine, Debbie Allnock and Patricia Hynes, *Preventing and Responding to Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation: Evidence Review*, UNICEF, New York, 2015.

Walsh, Kerryann, et al., 'School-Based Education Programmes for the Prevention of Child Sexual Abuse', *the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, vol. 4, no. CD004380, 2015.

#### School-related sexual and gender-based violence

Greene, M., et al., A Girl's Right to Learn without Fear: Working to End Gender-Based Violence at School. Plan International, Surrey, United Kingdom, 2013. www.ungei.org/srgbv/files/Plan\_SRGBV\_FullReport\_EN.pdf

Leach, Fiona, Máiréad Dunne and Francesca Salvi, *School-Related Gender-Based Violence: A Global Review* of Current Issues and Approaches in Policy, Programming and Implementation Responses to School-Related Gender-Based Violence (SRGBV) for the Education Sector. UNESCO, Paris, 2014. www.ungei.org/ index\_5709.html

Parkes, J., et al., *A Rigorous Review of Global Research Evidence on Policy and Practice on School-Related Gender-Based Violence*. University College London, Institute of Education, London, 2015. www.unicef.org/education/files/SRGBV\_review\_FINAL\_V1\_web\_version.pdf

UNESCO, *School Violence and Bullying: Global Status Report. Education 2030.* UNESCO, Paris, 2017. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0024/002469/246970e.pdf

Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children, *Ending the Torment: Tackling Bullying from the Schoolyard to Cyberspace*. SRSG, New York, 2016. http://srsg.violenceagainstchildren.org/sites/default/files/2016/End bullying/bullyingreport.pdf

#### Violence against women and girls

Ellsberg, Mary, et al., 'Prevention of Violence against Women and Girls: What Does the Evidence Say?', *Lancet*, vol. 385, no. 9977, 2014, pp. 1555-1566.

Fulu, Emma and Lori Heise, *What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls, Evidence Reviews*. Paper 1. State of Research on Violence against Women and Girls. UK Department for International Development, What Works Programme, London, 2015. www.whatworks.co.za/documents/publications/ 16-global-evidence-reviews-paper-1-state-of-the-field-of-research-on-violence-against-women-and-girls/file

## DEFINITIONS OF VIOLENCE AGAINST GIRLS AND BOYS

In keeping with UNICEF's prior work – 'Hidden in plain sight: A statistical analysis of violence against children'<sup>6</sup> and 'Ending violence against children: Six strategies for action'<sup>7</sup> – this theory of change addresses all forms of interpersonal violence (e.g. physical, sexual and emotional) against girls, boys and adolescents that occur in the home, in and on the way to school, in the community, in workplaces and through information and communication technologies such as mobile phones and the Internet.

Harmful practices such as *FGM/C* and *child marriage* are important issues for UNICEF, but they do not receive priority focus in this theory of change, as they are already being addressed by extensive prevention and response guidance. Similarly, UNICEF recognizes *trafficking* as an important issue, but one that is being addressed elsewhere, including by other agencies.

*Child labour* is approached as a context of heightened risk of violence, rather than as a form of violence itself, in keeping with the approach taken by INSPIRE.

UNICEF bases its understanding of violence against girls and boys on article 19 of the CRC, which refers to "... all forms of physical or mental violence, injury or abuse, neglect or negligent treatment, maltreatment or exploitation, including sexual abuse..." However, operational definitions of and terms for specific forms of violence often vary widely and sometimes overlap, posing challenges for research and programming. For example, violence may be defined by perpetrator (e.g. child maltreatment and intimate partner violence), by context (e.g. cyber-bullying), by act (e.g. sexual violence) or by lethality (e.g. child homicide).

See Box 3 for some definitions of key forms of violence against children and adolescents, some of which have been outlined by international human rights standards while others have been adopted by UN agencies.

### BOX 3

### Definitions of key forms of violence against children and adolescents

**Violence against children:** "All forms of physical or mental violence, injury and abuse, neglect or negligent treatment, maltreatment or exploitation, including sexual abuse".

Source: UN General Assembly, Article 19, Convention on the Rights of the Child. www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx

**Sexual violence:** An umbrella term used to refer to all forms of sexual victimization of adult women, men and children, including different forms of child sexual abuse and exploitation. "Any sexual act, attempt to obtain a sexual act, unwanted sexual comments or advances, or acts to traffic, or otherwise directed against a person's sexuality using coercion, by any person, regardless of their relationship to the victim, in any setting, including but not limited to home and work".

*Source:* Based on definition in WHO, 'Sexual Violence', by Rachel Jewkes, Purna Sen and Claudia Garcia-Moreno, in *World Report on Violence and Health*, edited by Etienne G. Krug, et al., 2002, pp. 147-182.

**Child sexual abuse:** Engaging in sexual activities with a child who, according to the relevant provisions of national law, has not reached the legal age for sexual activities (this does not apply to consensual sexual activities between minors), and engaging in sexual activities with a child where use is made of coercion, force or threats; or abuse is made of a recognised position of trust, authority or influence over the child,

#### BOX 3 (cont.)

including within the family; or abuse is made of a particularly vulnerable situation of the child, notably because of a mental or physical disability or a situation of dependence.

*Source:* Article 18 of the Council of Europe Convention on the Protection of Children against Sexual Exploitation and Sexual Abuse, 2007.

**Child sexual exploitation:** Child sexual abuse becomes sexual exploitation when a second party benefits through sexual activity involving a child. It includes acts such as: exploitation of a child or adolescent in prostitution and/or child sexual abuse material. In the Council of Europe Convention it also covers situations where a child or other person is given or promised money or other form of remuneration, payment or consideration in return for the child engaging in sexual activity, even if the payment/remuneration is not made; and the intentional causing, for sexual purposes, of a child who has not reached the age for sexual consent, to witness sexual abuse or sexual activities, even without having to participate.

*Source:* Article 34 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) and the Optional Protocol to the CRC on the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography, and articles 19-23 of the Council of Europe Convention on the Protection of Children against Sexual Exploitation and Sexual Abuse.

**Violent discipline:** Child discipline method that relies on physical (corporal) punishment and/or psychological aggression. "Psychological aggression refers to the action of shouting, yelling or screaming at a child, as well as calling a child offensive names such as 'dumb' or 'lazy'. Physical punishment is defined as shaking the child, hitting or slapping him/her on the hand/arm/leg, hitting him/her on the bottom or elsewhere on the body with a hard object, spanking or hitting him/her on the bottom with a bare hand, hitting or slapping him/her on the face, head or ears, and beating him/her over and over as hard as possible". *Source:* UNICEF, 'Violent Discipline: Methodology', 2016. https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-protection/violence/violent-discipline/

## **Corporal punishment:** Any punishment in which physical force is used and intended to cause some degree of pain or discomfort, however light.

Source: UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, CRC General Comment No. 8, The Right of the Child to Protection from Corporal Punishment and Other Cruel or Degrading Forms of Punishment, 2006. www.refworld.org/docid/460bc7772.html

**Bullying:** ... "intentional and aggressive behaviour occurring repeatedly against a victim where there is a real or perceived power imbalance, and where the victim feels vulnerable and powerless to defend himself or herself. The unwanted behaviour is hurtful: it can be physical, including hitting, kicking and the destruction of property; verbal, such as teasing, insulting and threatening; or relational, through the spreading of rumours and exclusion from a group".

Source: Olweus, Dan, Bullying at school: What we know and what we can do (Understanding Children's Worlds). Wiley-Blackwell, 1993.

**Intimate partner violence:** "Any behaviour within an intimate relationship that causes physical, psychological or sexual harm to those in the relationship. Examples... [include] acts of physical violence... sexual violence... emotional (psychological abuse)... and controlling behaviours. The definition of intimate partner varies between settings and includes formal partnerships, such as marriage, as well as informal partnerships, including dating relationships and unmarried sexual relationships. In some settings, intimate partners tend to be married, while in others more informal partnerships are more common".

Source: WHO, Global and Regional Estimates of Violence against Women: Prevalence and Health Effects of Intimate Partner Violence and Non-Partner Sexual Violence, 2013. www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/violence/9789241564625/en/

## MAGNITUDE AND CONSEQUENCES OF VIOLENCE AGAINST CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS

Fragmented but growing international evidence indicates that high proportions of girls, boys and adolescents experience some form of violence (see Box 4). A 2016 global meta-analysis estimated that more than three-quarters of the world's children had experienced moderate or severe physical, sexual and/or emotional abuse during the past year, affecting nearly 1.5 billion boys and girls aged 2-17.<sup>8</sup> While nationally representative data on certain forms of violence (e.g. violent discipline and bullying) are available from many countries, UNICEF analyses note that data on other forms of violence (e.g. sexual abuse of boys) are "woefully lacking".<sup>9</sup> UNICEF has reviewed the global prevalence research on various forms of violence against children in many recent publications and provides regularly updated data through global databases.<sup>10</sup>

Evidence suggests that children are more likely to experience certain forms of violence at different ages (see Figure 1), and prolonged exposure to multiple forms is often linked to more adverse effects.<sup>11</sup> The evidence base on the prevalence of many types of violence disaggregated by age and sex is incomplete, however, and this is an ongoing area of work.

The following section summarizes some of what is known about the prevalence of violence against children and adolescents for selected forms of violence that are particularly relevant to UNICEF's work and the SDGs (also see Box 5).

#### BOX 4

#### Selected UNICEF publications on violence against girls and boys

A Familiar Face: Violence in the lives of children and adolescents, 2017.

*Hidden in plain sight: A statistical analysis of violence against children*, 2014. www.unicef.org/publications/ index\_74865.html

*Child disciplinary practices at home: Evidence from a range of low-and middle-income countries*, 2010. www.unicef.org/protection/Child\_Disciplinary\_Practices\_at\_Home.pdf

A statistical snapshot of violence against adolescent girls, 2014. www.unicef.org/publications/index\_76212.html

*Breaking the silence on violence against indigenous girls, adolescents and young women*, 2013, UNICEF, UN-Women, UNFPA, ILO and the SRSG on Violence against Children. www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/VAIWG\_FINAL.pdf

*The multi-country study on the drivers of violence affecting children. A cross-country snapshot of findings*, 2016, by M.C. Maternowska, A. Potts and D. Fry, UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti. www.unicef-irc.org/e-book/THE-MULTI-COUNTRY-STUDY-PAGER/HTML/

*Corporal punishment in schools: Longitudinal evidence from Ethiopia, India, Peru and Viet Nam*, 2015, by M.J. Oganda Portela, Innocenti Discussion Paper No. 2015-02, UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti. www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/CORPORAL%20PUNISHMENTfinal.pdf

*Experiences of peer bullying among adolescents and associated effects on young adult outcomes: Longitudinal evidence from Ethiopia, India, Peru and Viet Nam*, 2016, by K. Pells, M.J. Oganda Portela and P. Espinoza Revollo, Innocenti discussion paper no. 2016-03, UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti. www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/IDP\_2016\_03.pdf

#### FIGURE 1

Selected forms of violence according to the most likely age of occurrence.



Source: Adapted from INSPIRE, Seven Strategies for Ending Violence against Children p.14.

#### BOX 5

# Selected SDG indicators related to violence against children and adolescents

16.2.1: Per cent of children aged 1-17 who experienced any *physical punishment and/or psychological aggression* by caregivers in the past month.

16.2.3: Per cent of young women and men aged 18-29 who experienced *sexual violence* by age 18.

16.1.1: Number of victims of intentional *homicide* per 100,000 population, by sex and age (including the age group 0-19).

5.2.1: Per cent of ever-partnered women and girls aged 15 years and older subjected to physical, sexual or psychological *violence by a current or former intimate partner*, in the last 12 months, by form of violence and by age group.

*Violent discipline (physical punishment and verbal psychological aggression).* A 2014 UNICEF analysis estimated that 6 in 10 children aged 2-14 (almost 1 billion worldwide) had experienced regular physical punishment by caregivers in the past month. Even higher proportions (about 7 in 10) experienced psychological aggression, such as being yelled at or called names. Harsh physical punishment – being hit hard and repeatedly or on the face – affected an average of 17 per cent of children from 58 countries. Limited data on violent discipline are available for children aged 15-17, as they were not measured by the Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys (MICS).

*Childhood sexual abuse.* Nationally representative data on childhood sexual abuse are limited and often difficult to compare across studies due to variations in methods and measures.<sup>12</sup> Few countries have nationally representative data on child sexual abuse, especially against males. UNICEF estimates, however, that about 1 in 10 girls (approximately 120 million worldwide) have experienced forced intercourse or other

sexual acts.<sup>13</sup> In most but not all studies, boys typically report lower levels of child sexual abuse than girls, but levels of sexual abuse against boys are often substantial.<sup>14, 15</sup> Children usually know the perpetrators, and a large proportion of sexual violence against adolescents is perpetrated by romantic or intimate partners.

#### School-related violence, bullying and fighting.

While no SDG indicator specifically measures violence in schools, target 4.A calls for safe, non-violent learning environments. Sexual and gender-based schoolrelated violence has received growing international attention.<sup>16-18</sup> Girls and boys may experience physical, sexual, verbal or psychological violence in and around schools, as well as online, by other students, teachers, staff and people in the community. Internationally comparable data on corporal punishment against girls and boys in school are limited, but evidence suggests it remains widespread.<sup>19</sup> For example, a four-country UNICEF study in 2015 found that the percentage of 8-year-old children who reported being physically punished in school during the past week ranged from 20 per cent in Viet Nam to 78 per cent in India.<sup>20</sup>

Multinational, school-based surveys such as Global School-based Student Health Surveys (GSHS), the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children surveys and the Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study have produced large databases of internationally comparable data on certain types of peer violence, such as fighting, bullying and physical assault.<sup>21</sup> Peer violence may occur in many locations, but schools are an important setting for interaction among peers, including violence.<sup>22</sup> An analysis of GSHS and other school-based surveys found that 20 per cent to 50 per cent of girls and boys aged 13 to 15 reported being physically attacked in the past year in 25 countries. In 104 countries, 14 per cent to 68 per cent reported being involved in a physical fight in the past year; and in 106 countries, 7 per cent to 74 per cent of students reported by being bullied in the past month.23

#### Physical and sexual violence by intimate or

**romantic partners**. Worldwide, nearly one in five adolescent girls aged 15-19 are married or cohabiting as if married.<sup>24</sup> Evidence suggests that nearly one third (29.4 per cent) have experienced physical and/or sexual violence by their partner.<sup>25</sup> A recent analysis of Demographic and Health Survey data from 34 countries found that young women (aged 20-24) who had married or cohabited as children had a significantly elevated risk of partner violence in the past year compared with those who did not marry or cohabit before age 18; and that elevated risk persisted into adulthood.<sup>26</sup> Violence within romantic, informal adolescent partnerships is also prevalent in many settings, though comparable, multi-country data are limited.

**Lethal violence**. According to UN estimates from 2012, about 95,000 children and adolescents up to age 19 were victims of homicide in 2012 (the most recent data available). Evidence suggests that the share of deaths due to intentional injury (including homicide) increases as children enter adolescence, and is significantly higher among males than females.<sup>27</sup>

# RISK FACTORS AND DRIVERS OF VIOLENCE

Recent publications document a fragmented but growing body of evidence about risk factors and drivers associated with physical, sexual and emotional violence in childhood and adolescence.<sup>28-31</sup> In accord with work by the UNICEF Office of Research– Innocenti, the term 'drivers' is used for factors associated with an increased likelihood of violence at the structural or institutional level, while risk and protective factors are those at the individual, interpersonal and community levels.<sup>32</sup>

A full discussion of what is known about causes and correlates of violence against children (much less each specific form) is beyond the scope of this document. However, some important factors identified by international reviews are noted below (see Annex B for more details). As noted earlier, patterns and levels of violence vary according to age and sex. For example, while sexual abuse affects both girls and boys, global reviews find that girls report higher levels of forced sexual intercourse than boys in almost all settings.<sup>33, 34</sup> Girls who marry or cohabit as children are particularly at risk.<sup>35</sup> Meanwhile, global estimates indicate that males account for the majority of victims of child homicide (nearly 7 in 10),<sup>36</sup> and adolescent males experience higher rates than younger children and female cohorts.

Some studies link risk factors to specific types of violence; for example, a large body of evidence suggests that male attitudes supporting male entitlement to sex correlate with a higher risk of perpetrating sexual violence against girls and women.<sup>37,38</sup> However, many factors are associated with multiple forms of violence against girls and boys, and growing evidence highlights the interconnectedness of different types of violence in childhood.<sup>39</sup>

#### Girls and boys in vulnerable situations

Global evidence suggests that girls and boys in certain contexts are more vulnerable to many types of violence. For instance, vulnerability may be heightened for children living with disabilities, in institutional care and deprived of liberty; those living in extreme poverty, unaccompanied or separated from family; children on the move (migrants, refugees, asylum seekers and internally displaced children); and children living with HIV, facing discrimination for their sexual orientation or gender identity, belonging to marginalized social or ethnic groups, and those living with other social and economic disadvantages.<sup>40</sup>

Links between risk factors and violence are often complex, however, and may vary by setting, type of violence, gender and age. For example, while household poverty has been linked to greater risk of certain types of violence in some settings, research suggests that associations between violence and poverty are not straightforward and need to be understood in the broader geographic and social context.<sup>41</sup>

## Drivers and risk factors at higher levels of the ecological framework

While individual factors that increase the risk of violence are clearly important, there is broad consensus in the field that violence prevention and response must not focus too narrowly on individual characteristics of victims and perpetrators. Rather the focus should be enlarged to give more attention to broader social, economic, normative and institutional environments in which children and adolescents live.<sup>42</sup> Annex B summarizes factors and drivers associated with an increased risk of violence identified by many studies at the level of societies, legal and policy frameworks, systems and institutions, communities, households and families. This theory of change gives attention to two particular sets of high-level, cross-cutting factors across all parts of the results chain. These are:

- a) Social norms about gender equality and the acceptability of violence and discrimination (in other words, violence as a human rights and public health issue)
- b) Situations of fragility and conflict at the community and society/national level, including armed conflict, criminal violence, forced displacement, natural disasters and other emergencies.

These factors often interact. For example, in many settings, girls face heightened vulnerability to certain types of violence due to social and gender norms that hamper their development. Evidence suggests that girls are uniquely disadvantaged during armed conflict, forced displacement and other crises. Pre-existing gender norms that restrict girls' development often persist throughout such crises. As social connections and networks splinter, harmful gender norms can become even more entrenched.

## CONSEQUENCES OF VIOLENCE

All forms of physical, sexual and emotional abuse against girls and boys may have serious negative short-term and long-term physical, mental and reproductive health consequences. These include physical injury, sexually transmitted infections, anxiety, depression, suicidal ideation, unplanned pregnancy and in

some cases death.<sup>43</sup> Evidence suggests that toxic stress associated with exposure to violence in childhood can impair brain development and damage other parts of the nervous system, with lifelong consequences.44 Violence may also have serious social and economic consequences for individuals and society, including reduced school performance and long-term economic costs.45



# 2. Proposed Theory of Change

This section includes three components that together comprise a theory of change:

- *Cross-cutting principles and assumptions* that inform the proposed results chain.
- Conceptual framework and schematic representations of the results chain, including a simplified and a more detailed schematic that show proposed results at the impact/goal, outcome and output levels; high-priority actions and strategies; and potential barriers, challenges, drivers, risk factors and bottlenecks.
- Narrative summary of the theory of change, which provides the rationale for the proposed results and describes the links between different levels of the results chain (from outputs to outcomes to impact/goal) and the priority strategies proposed to achieve those results.

In addition, a *detailed results framework* with results statements, indicators, means of verification and notes about data availability, strengths and weak-nesses for each indicator has been developed as a separate but complementary document.

## CROSS-CUTTING PRINCIPLES AND ASSUMPTIONS

In accord with UNICEF's previous work, recommendations of the 2015 evaluation and global evidence about effective violence prevention and response, this theory of change is informed by the following general principles, which apply throughout the results framework:

- A child rights perspective, as laid out in the CRC.
- Principles and rights recognized by other international human rights instruments, including the Convention

on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) and the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities.

- UNICEF's commitment to the rights and needs of girls and boys living in situations of vulnerability (e.g. girls and boys living with disabilities, in institutional care, in extreme poverty, deprived of liberty, separated from family or living with any social or economic vulnerability).
- UNICEF's commitment to gender equity, gender equality and gender-responsive policies and programming as cross-cutting themes.
- Principles laid out in UNICEF's 2008 global child protection strategy, which called for developing protective environments in which "girls and boys are free from violence, exploitation, and unnecessary separation from family; and where laws, services, behaviours and practices minimize children's vulnerability, address known risk factors, and strengthen children's own resilience...."<sup>46</sup>
- The importance of ensuring participation of girls, boys and adolescents in programme and policy design, both to give them a voice and to improve the quality of programming and monitoring.
- A results-based management framework approach.
- A life cycle approach that recognizes how risks and needs vary by age during childhood and adolescence can help to design more effective programmes and make best use of scarce resources.

In addition, the broad design of this theory of change is informed by evidence from the research and programme evaluation literature supporting findings that:

• Violence against girls and boys is preventable.47

- Effective violence prevention and response requires action at all levels of the ecological model including legal and policy frameworks; systems and institutions; society/communities; households/ families; mothers, fathers and other caregivers; and girls and boys, including adolescents.<sup>48</sup>
- Every sector has an important role to play in violence prevention and response, including justice, social welfare/social protection, health and education, among others. Multisectoral collaboration among all sectors is essential for creating a protective environment for children.
- Whole system and whole institution strengthening, combined with multisectoral collaboration, is almost always more effective than narrow policy changes, short-term projects and vertical programming.<sup>49,50</sup>
- Building the evidence base and using 'research to action' can raise awareness, build political will to address violence, hold systems accountable and

mobilize better evidence-based policymaking and programming for violence prevention and response across all sectors.

## Levels of intervention: the socio-ecological model

This theory of change is informed by evidence that preventing and responding to violence against girls, boys and adolescents requires addressing risk and protective factors at many levels of the socioecological framework (see Figure 2).<sup>51</sup> These include macro-structural factors; national coordinated action; legal and normative frameworks; systems and institutions; communities; interpersonal relationships within households, including parent/child; peer relationships; and characteristics, awareness, attitudes, knowledge and behaviours of individuals at all levels of society – including policymakers; duty-bearers and professionals; community leaders; mothers, fathers and other caregivers; girls, boys and adolescents; and victims and perpetrators.



14 Preventing and Responding to Violence Against Children and Adolescents: Theory of Change

#### FIGURE 2

Socio-ecological model for understanding violence against children and adolescents.



Source: Adapted from UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti, 'Understanding Children's Experiences of Violence in Peru: Evidence from Young Lives', p. 14. www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/IWP\_2016\_17.pdf

# CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORKS AND SCHEMATIC OF THE THEORY OF CHANGE

The following pages present schematic illustrations of the theory of change. The first is a conceptual framework showing change organized by level of the ecological framework. The second is a matrix presenting a more detailed chain of results statements at the level of outputs, outcomes, impact/goal and vision, as well as high-priority actions and strategies and examples of barriers, challenges, drivers and bottlenecks.



Vision

A world free of violence against girls and boys, including adolescents.

Impact / Goal

All girls and boys, including adolescents and those living in situations of vulnerability, grow up with greater freedom from all forms of violence; and those who do experience violence benefit from greater access to care, support, justice and other services needed to ensure physical, mental and social well-being.

Cross-cutting Outcomes • Policies and programmes across all results areas are more risk-informed and supportive of resilience at individual, family, community and system levels, so child protection strategies continue seamlessly across humanitarian and development cycles, including in situations of armed conflict, forced displacement and other emergencies.

• Policymakers, professionals, leaders, community members, caregivers, girls, boys and adolescents have greater awareness of violence against children as a human rights and public health problem and greater agreement with social norms that support freedom from violence, harmful practices, gender inequality and discrimination, particularly against vulnerable groups.

All outcomes contribute to impact/goal but also influence one another across the results chain. In other words, the chain of results flows horizontally and vertically.

	National, multisectoral action	Legal/policy frameworks	Systems and inst		<b>n, reporting mechani</b> ng but not limited to se	<b>sms and response se</b> actors listed below)	ervices across all	Society/ communities	Families and	l caregivers	Girls, boys and adolescents
	Countries have strengthened <b>national</b>	Countries have strengthened legal and policy			coverage, access to an sms and response se	<b>Communities</b> are more engaged in:	Households/ families have	Mothers, fathers and	Girls, boys and adolescents are more empowered		
OUTCOMES	commitment to fund and implement comprehensive, evidence-based, multisectoral, coordinated plans, policies and actions (including MRM plans) to prevent and respond to violence against girls, boys and adolescents.	frameworks (as written and implemented) to protect girls and boys, including adolescents, from violence and discrimination, in accord with international norms (e.g. CRC and CEDAW).	Justice sector systems and institutions have improved access to child-friendly justice and enforcement of laws that protect girls, boys and adolescents from violence and discrimination.	Social welfare systems, including child protection, have strengthened access to high- quality prevention and responses to violence against girls, boys and adolescents, especially the most vulnerable.	Health systems and institutions have strengthened violence-related public health research, prevention and case detection, as well as care and support for girls, boys and adolescents who experience violence.	Education systems and institutions provide greater access to safe, inclusive, gender-equitable education, life skills and livelihood programmes that are responsive to all forms of violence against girls, boys and adolescents.	Humanitarian/ emergency actions have improved access to and quality of prevention and responses to violence against children and gender-based violence against women and children.	<ul> <li>Protecting the right of all girls and boys to grow up free of violence and discrimination, regardless of age, sex, disability or any other social or economic disadvantage</li> <li>Creating safer environments for girls, boys and adolescents.</li> </ul>	and economic stability and more gender- equitable and tritudes and pro- lower levels pao of violence and against women equitable and pro- lower levels pao of violence and against women equitable and tritudes and pro- lower levels pao of violence and against women equitable and tritudes and pro- in the home. at the skill because the sk	parent/child relationships and have improved positive parenting and gender- equitable	to exercise and advocate for rights and agency to live free of violence; seek help when violence occurs; build healthy, gender-equitable, non-violent relationships; and postpone marriage and childbearing until adulthood.
OUTPUTS	Countries have strengthened the: • Capacity of multi-stakeholder, <b>multisectoral</b> <b>planning</b> and <b>coordination</b> <b>mechanisms</b> • <b>Evidence base</b> about violence against children (research, mapping, surveillance and monitoring) • <b>Awareness</b> of evidence for informed policies and planning.	Countries have strengthened: • Mechanisms to monitor and reform laws and policies in accord with international norms • Public and policymaker support for legal reform and children's rights • Justice sector capacity to implement laws.	against girls, boys Normative fram guidelines, proto participation, add Evidence and d mapping, surveill System and ins implementation, Workforce prep qualifications, tra Referral netwo Integration of a Investment in: » Case detectio » Dedicated, ev	and adolescents in ac neworks for addressi cols, minimum standa opted, costed, funded ata collection syste ance, administrative titution-wide resou workforce strengthem paredness of duty-be aining, knowledge, ski rks, multisectoral c ttention to violence on, responses, refer ridence-based initia	cord with a systems a ng violence and child p ards, codes of conduct , implemented and more ems related to violence data systems, monitori irces such as infrastru ing and data systems. earers, professionals an ills, attitudes, awarene collaboration and cor e against children ac rals, monitoring, car atives to prevent and r	norotection, e.g. policies, and plans of action (dev nitored). e and child protection, i ng and evaluation. cture, supplies, policy a nd paraprofessionals, e sss, etc.	, regulations, veloped with child including research, and protocol e.g. number, ogramming. <b>nentation.</b> ainst children and	Communities and community- based organizations have greater awareness of children's rights, including the right of girls and boys to grow up free of violence and discrimination, regardless of age, sex, disability or any other social or economic disadvantage.	Vulnerable households have greater access to social and economic support programmes that integrate attention to gender equity, family violence prevention and safe transitions to adulthood.	Mothers, fathers and caregivers have greater: • Access to higher quality parenting support services • Awareness of positive parenting and child development.	Girls, boys and adolescents have greater access to: • Education, life skills, livelihood and violence prevention programmes • Age-appropriate information about sexuality and healthy relationships • Knowledge about rights and where to seek help for violence.

Note: Violence against children includes all forms of physical, sexual and emotional abuse, including violent discipline and sexual abuse and exploitation of girls and boys, including adolescents, in all settings (e.g. home, school, community, online). Girls and boys in situations of vulnerability include those with disabilities, in institutional care, deprived of liberty, in extreme poverty, unaccompanied/separated from family, and affected by HIV or any other social or economic disadvantage.

#### **HIGH-PRIORITY ACTIONS AND STRATEGIES**

#### Cross-cutting strategies: C4D strategies to change social norms; and efforts to strengthen the resilience of policies and programmes across all results areas, including in emergency situations.

National, multi- sectoral action	Legal/policy frameworks		-	and response services w tem and whole institution		•	Society/ communities	Households/ families	Mothers, fathers and	Girls, boys an adolescents
<ul> <li>Build and disseminate the evidence base, (research, mapping, surveillance and monitoring).</li> <li>'Research to action' strategies to raise awareness and mobilize action.</li> <li>Multisectoral, multi-stakeholder planning mechanisms (e.g. task forces), with child/adolescent</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Build and lisseminate the widence base, research, mapping, surveillance and nonitoring).</li> <li>Research to faction' strategies to aise awareness and nobilize action.</li> <li>Multisectoral, nulti-stakeholder blanning mechanisms (e.g. ask forces), with shild/adolescent participation.</li> <li>Develop, dopt, cost, fund, mplement and nonitor multisectoral national plans.</li> <li>Develop public expenditure tracking nechanisms.</li> <li>Develop MRM* totion plans, where</li> <li>Review laws and policies for compliance/accord with international norms related to violence and discrimination (e.g. CRC and CEDAW).</li> <li>Advocate for legal reform and implementation. (J)</li> <li>Reform laws and policies related to violence against girls, boys and adolescents, including access to weapons. (J)</li> <li>Strengthen policies related to child- friendly justice. (J)</li> <li>Campaigns to raise awareness of and support for violence- related laws and rights.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Review, revise and implement stronger normative frameworks (e.g. policies, protocols, codes of conduct, plans of action, etc.) relevant to violence, in accord with international norms.</li> <li>Perform comprehensive mapping of whole sector/system/institution-wide resources and gaps, both within each sector and across the child protection system as a whole.</li> <li>Invest in administrative data collection systems that track cases of child abuse and neglect, monitor institutional and professional practices, and document sector-specific expenditures.</li> <li>Invest in institutional resources (e.g. infrastructure, data systems, equipment, supplies, referral networks, etc.) based on comprehensive needs assessments in each sector.</li> <li>Invest in workforce preparedness, including sensitizing, training, hiring and retaining more and better-qualified duty-bearers, professionals and paraprofessionals.</li> <li>Build referral networks; enhance multisectoral collaboration and community outreach.</li> <li>Integrate attention to implications of violence across all policies and programming.</li> <li>Invest in reporting systems, case detection, responses, referrals, monitoring, care and support.</li> <li>Invest in dedicated, high-priority, evidence-based violence prevention initiatives in each sector.</li> </ul>					C4D strategies to change social norms about gender, violence and discrimination. (J, H, SW, E)     Mobilize communities and community- based organizations to prevent and respond to violence and discrimination	<ul> <li>Social care and support programmes for households that integrate attention to gender equality, violence against children and violence against women. (SW)</li> <li>Cash transfer programmes, especially those that address or evaluate the</li> </ul>	<b>caregivers</b> • Positive parenting programmes for mothers, fathers and other caregivers across the child life cycle, reinforced by C4D strategies. (SW, H, E) • Parent and caregiver support services (e.g.	<ul> <li>Life skills and livelihood programmes that integrate attention to rights, gender norms, healthy relationships a violence. (H, E, School- based violence prevention programmes.(E</li> <li>Adolescent- friendly sexual</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Child/adolescent participation.</li> <li>Develop, adopt, cost, fund, implement and monitor multisectoral national plans.</li> <li>Develop public expenditure tracking mechanisms.</li> <li>Develop MRM* action plans, where applicable.</li> </ul>		Justice (J) Invest in child-friendly justice reforms and enhanced support for child victims, in accord with international norms (e.g. UN Model Strategies).	Social welfare (SW) • Invest in the social welfare and child protection workforce. • Invest in enhanced case management services and information systems.	<ul> <li>Health (H)</li> <li>Align protocols and practice with international clinical guidelines on child sexual abuse and child maltreatment.</li> <li>Invest in enhanced post-rape care for girls and boys.</li> <li>Integrate attention to violence within public health programming.</li> </ul>	Education (E) • Whole school violence initiatives. • Integrate attention to violence in and around schools in education policies and programmes.	Humanitarian/ emergency (H/E) • Gender-based violence in emergencies programming. • Family reunification strategies in emergencies.	against girls and boys, including adolescents, particularly the most vulnerable. (H, SW, E)	cipils and impact on girls' cluding empowerment cents, and safe larly the transitions to ulnerable. adulthood for	for vulnerable families. (H, SW)	and reproduct health service and programm (H) • C4D strateg to raise awareness, change norms

BARRIERS, CHALLENGES, DRIVERS, RISK FACTORS AND BOTTLENECKS (EXAMPLES)

CKS	Multisectoral action	Legal/policy frameworks	Prevention and response	S	ociety/communities	s	Households/ families	Mothers, fathers and	Girls, boys and adolescents
IALLENGES, DRIVERS, BOTTLENE	<ul> <li>Lack of political will, mechanisms and/or resources to invest in coordinated, multisectoral violence prevention and response.</li> <li>Lack of evidence (especially population- based data) to raise awareness of violence.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Weak legal and policy frameworks that inadequately protect girls and boys from violence and discrimination.</li> <li>Institutions that lack capacity to implement laws or protect children in accord with international norms.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>services</li> <li>Lack of system and institutional capacity to prevent and respond to violence in each sector.</li> <li>Inadequate investment in workforce preparedness, particularly child protection.</li> <li>Resource constraints in each sector for violence prevention and response.</li> </ul>	inequa againa • Lac youth protect and be • Stru armed	cial, economic and ge lality; discrimination ist vulnerable groups. ck of community and engagement in cting the rights of girl loys. uctural inequality, d conflict/violence and gencies.	ls d	<ul> <li>Gender inequality and violence against women in the home.</li> <li>Family separation, particularly in emergency</li> </ul>	mechanisms and/or resources to invest in coordinated, multisectoral violence prevention and response.	<ul> <li>Lack of awareness, information and skills about rights, violence, healthy relationships and how to seek help.</li> <li>Lack of support for managing challenges of adolescence and safe transitions to adulthood, including sexual and reproductive health services.</li> <li>Barriers to education and life skills/ livelihood programmes.</li> <li>Gender- and age-based power imbalances.</li> </ul>
RS, CI	Among policymakers, programme managers, duty-bearers, professionals, paraprofessionals, community members, community leaders, mothers, fathers, caregivers, girls, boys and adolescents:								
BARRIE			f violence against girls, boys and human rights and public health probl	lem	and		is and attitudes that support and ender inequality and discriminat	,	are cross-cutting

В



### NARRATIVE SUMMARY OF THE THEORY OF CHANGE

The following section provides a narrative description of the results chain, the rationale for each results statement at the output, outcome and impact/goal level, and the recommended high-priority actions and strategies for each section.

#### Vision and impact/goal statements



This impact/goal statement describes two sets of changes in the lives of girls, boys and adolescents. The first focuses on prevention – phrased in positive terms as greater freedom from violence. The second focuses on protecting and restoring children's physical, mental and social well-being when violence occurs.

This two-part structure harmonizes with article 19 of the CRC as well as the INSPIRE package. It highlights the importance of both prevention and response and reflects evidence that high-quality responses are essential for long-term prevention, and vice versa. The emphasis on greater freedom from violence is designed to describe idealistic but feasible change, in contrast to the vision statement, which describes an idealized image of a world free of violence against children and adolescents.

In keeping with UNICEF's work in other areas, this proposed impact/goal statement makes particular mention of girls and boys living in situations of vulnerability. As noted earlier, these include girls, boys and adolescents living with disabilities, in institutional care, deprived of liberty, living in extreme poverty and unaccompanied/separated from family, as well as those living with other social, ethnic or economic disadvantages.

#### Overall structure of the outcomes and outputs

Within the field of violence prevention and response, there is rarely a narrow, vertical chain of results linking a single strategy to a single output, outcome and impact/goal. One strategy (e.g. legal reform, social norm change) may influence multiple outcomes and be most effective at preventing violence when used in combination with others.

As a result, this theory of change assumes that outcomes will produce change across the results chain both horizontally (by affecting other outcomes) and vertically (by contributing to change at the impact/goal level). The results chain is structured so that evidence-based, national, coordinated actions contribute to changes in legal and normative frameworks, systems and institutions across all sectors. In turn, all those efforts both contribute to and are influenced by social and behavioural change across the ecological framework (society/communities; households/families; mothers, fathers and other caregivers; and girls, boys and adolescents).

This approach aligns with the UNICEF 2008 child protection strategy,<sup>52</sup> which recognized the importance of strengthening child protection systems, supported by multisectoral coordination and broader social change. This results chain is also informed by evidence of the need to achieve changes across all levels of the ecological framework, as described earlier in this document.

#### Cross-cutting outcomes: Macro-level structural factors and contexts

- Policies and programmes across all results areas are more risk-informed and supportive of resilience at individual, family, community and system levels, so child protection strategies continue seamlessly across humanitarian and development cycles, including in situations of armed conflict, forced displacement and other emergencies.
- Cross-cutting outcomes
- Policymakers, professionals, leaders, community members, caregivers, girls, boys and adolescents have greater awareness of violence against children as a human rights and public health problem and greater agreement with social norms that support freedom from violence, harmful practices, gender inequality and discrimination, particularly against vulnerable groups.

#### Rationale for these outcomes

The proposed results chain includes two cross-cutting outcomes that influence change across all results in the framework. The first cross-cutting outcome focuses on strengthening policies and programmes to ensure that they are **more risk-informed and resilient**, so that child protection strategies can continue in emergency situations such as armed conflict, forced displacement, natural disasters and other humanitarian situations. Emergency situations are examples of macro-level factors that may increase the risk of violence against children and adolescents and weaken protective systems. Ideally, all countries should consider the implications of both existing and potential emergencies, and integrate attention to those risks within policies and programmes relevant to violence against children.

The second cross-cutting outcome is that all stakeholders will have **greater awareness** of violence against children and greater agreement with positive social norms.

Almost all sections of this theory of change require some type of awareness-raising and change in social norms. Social norm change may be particularly powerful when used in combination with other prevention strategies. For example, changing social norms that condone violence and raising awareness of violence against girls and boys as human rights and public health issues may be essential for building support among policymakers for national multisectoral action; convincing professionals in all sectors to recognize their responsibility as duty-bearers; building gender-equitable, respectful family relationships within households and families; and reducing acceptance of harsh parenting.

### National, evidence-based, coordinated multisectoral action

#### Outcome

Countries have strengthened **national commitment** to fund and implement comprehensive, evidence-based, **multisectoral, coordinated plans, policies and actions** (including MRM\* plans where applicable) to prevent and respond to violence against girls, boys and adolescents.

Outputs	High-priority strategies
Countries have strengthened the capacity of multi-stakeholder, multisectoral <b>planning and coordination</b> mechanisms.	• Invest in multisectoral and multi-stakeholder planning mechanisms (e.g. tasks forces and coalitions) that include participation by government, civil society, girls, boys and adolescents.
	• Develop, adopt, cost, fund and implement multisectoral, national plans and actions designed to strengthen violence prevention and response across all sectors.
	• Develop public expenditure tracking mechanisms.
	• Develop and implement MRM action plans where applicable.
Countries have strengthened the <b>evidence base</b> about violence against children (e.g. research, mapping, surveillance, evaluation and monitoring).	• Build and disseminate the evidence base, including violence- related research, mapping, surveillance, monitoring and evaluation.
Countries have strengthened <b>awareness</b> of evidence for informed policies and planning (among key groups, including policymakers and the general public).	<ul> <li>'Research to action' strategies that use evidence to raise awareness among policymakers and the general public, build political will for action and mobilize multisectoral, coordinated actions to address violence against girls, boys and adolescents.</li> </ul>

\*Monitoring and reporting mechanism on grave violations committed against children in situations of armed conflict. *Note:* Blue font indicates INSPIRE strategies.

#### Rationale for outcome and outputs

**National commitment** to address violence against children and adolescents refers to engagement and action, led by the highest levels of government. These actions may include involvement in national planning and mobilization efforts, ratification of international rights treaties, support for legal and policy reform, allocation of national budgets for addressing violence and support for national plans that address violence prevention and response.

**National actions and plans.** There is international consensus that the most promising approaches to long-term prevention of violence against girls and boys are supported by comprehensive and coordinated action across many sectors, including government and civil society, that address both prevention and response.<sup>53</sup> This approach aligns with UNICEF's commitment to a multisectoral systems approach to addressing violence within the field of child protection, as noted in the *Programme Note on the Theory of Change for the 2014-2017 UNICEF Strategic Plan*:<sup>54</sup>

Child protection systems often have many diverse elements, potentially drawn from the social welfare, education, health, justice, labour and security sectors, and increasingly from ICT, travel and tourism... comprehensive policies can set programming priorities, secure sufficient and reliable budgets, strengthen service delivery, influence legal frameworks and motivate the general public, which in turn can be a powerful force for instigating wide-ranging reform.

In countries affected by armed conflict, forced displacement and other emergency situations, other types of national plans are also important, such as MRM action plans for grave violations against children.<sup>55</sup> In addition, all countries may benefit from ensuring that national plans, policies and programmes incorporate greater attention to the risks of emergencies, in accord with the cross-cutting outcome mentioned earlier.<sup>56</sup>

**Expanding and disseminating the evidence base.** In many countries, a key barrier to national action is a lack of awareness about the magnitude and consequences of violence against children, among both policymakers and the broader public. Evidence – particularly national, population-based data – can raise awareness of violence as a public health and human rights problem and build support for action among policy-makers and the general public. It can also contribute to stronger evidence-informed policymaking and programme planning, especially when data are disaggregated by age, sex, geographic setting and key forms of vulnerability.

Evidence needed may include data on the prevalence, patterns, drivers and risk factors of violence against children and adolescents; strengths and gaps in response and prevention efforts; lessons learned about good practice; and evidence about which prevention and response strategies are effective or at least promising. Investing in programme monitoring evaluation more generally may help to prevent harm and improve violence-related policies and programmes in the future. Population-based data sources (both household and school-based surveys) may also allow countries to measure and report on violence-related SDG indicators, as UN Member States have agreed to do.

#### Rationale for strategies

**Build and disseminate the evidence base** on violence against children and adolescents, which may include:

- Population-based household or school-based surveys with data disaggregated by age and sex, such as MICS, Demographic and Health Surveys and Violence against Children Surveys<sup>57,58</sup>
- Facility-based or qualitative research on violence against children and adolescents
- Administrative and surveillance data systems
- Desk reviews that synthesize evidence about violence against girls and boys
- Comprehensive assessments of the child protection system (e.g. as described on pages 50-62 of UNICEF's Child Protection Resource Pack),<sup>59</sup> including those that map strengths and gaps in response and prevention efforts within each sector.

All data collection – including research, administrative data collection and programme evaluations – should be carried out in accord with international recommendations about safe, ethical and high-quality research on violence against children and adolescents.<sup>60,61</sup>

**'Research to action'** strategies use evidence to raise awareness among policymakers and/or the general public, build political will for action and mobilize stakeholders to collaborate for multisectoral, coordinated action. Some countries have used findings from national Violence against Children Surveys to mobilize national action.<sup>62</sup> But 'research to action' strategies can also use desk reviews of existing research when a dedicated, national survey is not feasible.

*Multi-stakeholder planning mechanisms* may include task forces, coalitions or other planning and policymaking groups. Ideally, these include the participation of many sectors and many types of stakeholders, including high-level government officials, non-governmental organizations, other civil society groups, and children and adolescents, as documented in a case study from United Republic of Tanzania.<sup>63</sup>

**Comprehensive national, multisectoral plans for prevention and response.** Some countries, such as Tanzania, have developed a comprehensive national plan to address violence against children.<sup>64</sup> Other countries, such as Zimbabwe, have multiple plans and strategies that address different target populations and forms of violence, which contribute to comprehensive national responses when taken together as a whole.<sup>65</sup> Emerging good practice guidelines suggest that national plans should include attention to prevention and response, gender equity and equality, the needs of vulnerable populations, strategies for coordination across sectors (for service delivery and data sharing), and comprehensive service responses.<sup>66</sup> Ideally, they should be informed by evidence about effective or at least promising approaches to violence prevention and response, including both international and national lessons learned.

Developing and adopting the national plan is just the first step in a long process, however. Once a government adopts a written plan, it must be costed, funded and implemented. In the longer term, such plans should be monitored, evaluated and improved. One important way to monitor national action, including the implementation of national plans, is to develop a *public expenditure tracking mechanism* that monitors expenditures invested in prevention and response to violence against children and adolescents and/or child protection. Both UNICEF and the Global Partnership to End Violence against Children are working to develop tools for this purpose.<sup>67,68</sup>

#### Legal and policy frameworks

#### Outcome

Countries have strengthened **legal and policy frameworks** (as written and implemented) to protect girls and boys, including adolescents, from violence and discrimination, in accord with international norms (e.g. CRC and CEDAW).

Outputs	High-priority strategies
Countries have strengthened mechanisms to monitor and reform laws and policies in accord with international norms (e.g. CRC). Countries have increased public and policymaker support for legal reform and children's rights.	<ul> <li>Review laws and policies for compliance/accord with international norms related to violence and discrimination (e.g. CRC and CEDAW).</li> <li>Advocate for legal reform and implementation, including by raising awareness among policymakers and the general public.</li> <li>Reform laws and policies (including criminal, civil and administrative codes, policies and regulations) that address: <ul> <li>violent discipline (at home and school), child sexual abuse and exploitation, access to weapons</li> <li>protection of children and adolescents from violence and discrimination more generally</li> <li>gender inequality and discrimination</li> <li>child-friendly access to justice.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Campaigns to raise awareness of and support for violence-related laws and rights.</li> </ul>
Countries have strengthened <b>justice</b> <b>sector capacity</b> to implement laws ( <i>this</i> <i>overlaps with strengthening the justice</i> <i>system, below</i> ).	Ensure that legal reform efforts incorporate attention to implications for training, costing, staffing and administrative law as well as regulations needed for full implementation. (See more justice sector strengthening strategies further down.)

Note: Blue font indicates INSPIRE strategies.

#### Rationale for outcome and outputs

Strong legal and policy frameworks are an essential component of a protective environment for children and adolescents that prevents, prohibits and responds to all forms of violence against children. In addition to protecting children from harm and providing justice for victims, legal and policy change may also contribute to attitude and behaviour change in society by influencing norms about acceptable treatment of children, the rights of girls and boys, and what acts constitute a crime. Such strategies are particularly effective when accompanied by other strategies, such as awareness campaigns (see box below).

#### The value of combining legal reform with awareness raising and social norm change strategies – laws banning corporal punishment in Europe

Population-based research from five countries in Europe found that laws prohibiting corporal punishment led to reduced violent discipline of children in multiple countries. However, legal bans were more effective when accompanied by intensive, long-term efforts to change social norms, raise awareness of laws and promote positive disciplinary practices among parents.<sup>69,70</sup>

Legal and policy frameworks may include national and subnational criminal and civil legislation, family codes, administrative laws, policies, regulations and codes of conduct. While the justice sector (e.g. the police and judiciary) plays a central role in implementing legal and policy reforms, revised laws and policies may affect and require participation from many sectors, including health and social welfare.

Most countries have committed to bringing their legal and policy frameworks into accord with international human rights agreements, such as the CRC and CEDAW.

#### Child-friendly justice

'Child-friendly justice' is based on the principle that civil, administrative and criminal justice systems must protect the rights and well-being of all children who come into contact with these systems, whether as victims, witnesses or children in conflict with the law. Justice systems should be a positive force in children's lives, not a source of additional trauma. International children's rights documents, including the CRC, established children's right to integrity, participation, information and proper representation when in contact with justice systems. There is a growing body of international guidance about good practice for achieving child-friendly justice based on the CRC, with implications for every aspect of justice system interactions with children. For example, see guidance from the Child Rights International Network at www.crin.org/en/guides/legal/child-friendly-justice.

However, many countries have ratified these agreements with reservations, and much remains to be done to domesticate key provisions into national laws. Increasingly, international guidance on best practice has emphasized the need to increase access to 'child-friendly justice'<sup>71</sup> and other norms, such as those described in the UN Model Strategies and Practical Measures on the Elimination of Violence against Children.<sup>72</sup>

#### Rationale for strategies

Effective reform and implementation of legal and policy frameworks often requires many steps, including the following:

**Review and revise laws and policies** in light of international rights obligations, including the CRC and CEDAW. The Committee on the Rights of the Child monitors compliance with the CRC, and UNICEF already has responsibility for facilitating broad consultations within States to maximize the accuracy and impact of reports to the Committee. The United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) has developed a checklist that can help countries assess legal and policy frameworks and their implementation in accord with international norms laid out in the *United Nations Model Strategies and Practical Measures on the Elimination of Violence against Children in the Field of Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice* (UN Model Strategies).<sup>73</sup> Revising laws and policies typically takes time, and should ideally involve participation by many stakeholders, including children and adolescents.

**Legal advocacy and awareness campaigns**. In some cases, awareness raising and advocacy may be needed to mobilize the general public, key constituencies and policymakers to revise laws and policies relevant to violence against children. Advocacy efforts can also encourage policymakers to implement and monitor implementation of new laws.<sup>74</sup> Finally, as mentioned earlier, awareness campaigns increase awareness among the general public about the rights of children and the legal and policy frameworks designed to protect them.

**Strengthening justice sector capacity to implement laws and policies**. Achieving legislative reform may be a challenging and important achievement on its own, but it is always just a first step in a longer chain of results. The greater challenge is to ensure that laws and policies are implemented and enforced in ways that protect girls and boys from harm. Once the content of laws and policies is revised and adopted, the next challenge is to help key systems and institutions implement those policies (see Figure 3). This stage often requires regulations and rules that translate laws into practice, and substantial investment to ensure adequate staffing and to train duty-bearers to implement new policies. Where resources are limited, countries may need to strengthen the capacity of whole justice systems and institutions, <sup>75,76</sup> as discussed in the section on strengthening justice sector responses to violence. Countries may also need to develop monitoring systems that hold institutions and duty-bearers accountable. Children, adolescents and families also need to be aware of their legal rights and able to access legal aid, law enforcement reporting mechanisms and support services essential for child-friendly access to justice.

### FIGURE 3

Steps in strengthening and implementing legal and policy frameworks.

#### At all stages of the process:

- Advocate/mobilize support for legal and policy reform among policymakers and the public
- Raise awareness of legal rights among the general population

Invest in whole system and whole institution strengthening as needed

Monitor/ assess legal and policy frameworks and enforcement	Develop a mechanism for revising laws and policies, with child participation	Adopt and bring into force legal and policy changes	Translate revised laws and policies into regulations, rules, guidelines and protocols	Sensitize, train, supervise (and sometimes hire new) personnel at all levels to implement new laws and policies	Monitor, evaluate and carry out additional reforms to ensure adequate financial allocations and enforcement
--	---	--	---	---	---

Develop systems for coordination and for monitoring implementation

## Systems and institutions: Prevention and reporting mechanisms and response services across all sectors

Note that sectors include but are not limited to justice, social welfare, health, education and humanitarian/emergency programming.

#### Outcome

Whole systems and institutions have improved the quality, coverage, access to and multisectoral coordination of *violence prevention, reporting mechanisms and response services* for girls and boys, including adolescents.

#### **Outputs**

Each sector has strengthened the **capacity of whole systems and institutions** to address violence against girls and boys, including adolescents, in accord with a systems approach, including:

- Normative frameworks for addressing violence and child protection, e.g. policies, regulations, guidelines, protocols, minimum standards, codes of conduct and plans of action (developed with child participation, adopted, costed, funded, implemented and monitored).
- Evidence and data collection systems related to violence and child protection, including research, mapping, surveillance, administrative data systems, monitoring and evaluation.
- System and institution-wide resources such as infrastructure, supplies, policy and protocol implementation, workforce strengthening and data systems.
- Workforce preparedness of duty-bearers, professionals and paraprofessionals, e.g. number, qualifications, training, knowledge, skills, attitudes, awareness, etc.
- Referral networks, multisectoral collaboration and community outreach.
- Integration of attention to violence against children across all policies and programming.
- Investment in:
- » case detection, responses, referrals, monitoring, care, support and documentation
- » dedicated, evidence-based initiatives to prevent and respond to violence against children and adolescents, in accord with international best practices (including INSPIRE strategies).

#### **High-priority strategies**

- Adopt systems approaches for whole system and whole institutional capacity building:
  - » Review, revise and implement stronger normative frameworks (e.g. policies, protocols, codes of conduct, plans of action, etc.) relevant to violence, in accord with international norms.
- Perform comprehensive mapping of whole sector/system/institution-wide resources and gaps – both within each sector and across the child protection system as a whole.
- Invest in administrative data collection systems that track cases of child abuse and neglect; monitor institutional and professional practices; and document sector-specific expenditures.
- Invest in institutional resources (e.g. infrastructure, data systems, equipment, supplies, referral networks, human resources, etc.) based on comprehensive needs assessments in each sector.
- Invest in workforce preparedness to address violence against children, including sensitizing, training, hiring and retaining more and betterqualified duty-bearers, professionals and paraprofessionals.
- » Build referral networks; enhance multisectoral collaborations and community outreach.
- » Integrate attention to implications of violence across all policies and programming.
- Invest in reporting systems, case detection, responses, referrals, monitoring, care and support.
- Invest in dedicated, high-priority, evidence-based violence prevention initiatives in each sector.

Note: Blue font indicates INSPIRE strategies.

#### Rationale for outcome and outputs

**Prevention:** All sectors have an important role to play in preventing violence against children and adolescents. For example: Justice sector reforms that increase access to child-friendly justice and reduce impunity for perpetrators can send a powerful message throughout society about the rights of girls and boys to grow up free of violence, particularly when (as noted earlier) legal reforms are combined with Communication for Development (C4D) strategies. Social welfare programmes that assist vulnerable families, support caregivers and intervene to help girls and boys at risk can help to reduce the risk of violence and recurrence of violence, as well as break long-term cycles of risk. Health programmes that address violence against children as a public health problem may help build the evidence base, reframe violence against girls and boys as a public health problem, and influence social norms and behaviours within communities, families and children's and adolescents' peer groups. The education sector can play a critical role in preventing violence in childhood - and across the lifespan - by providing access to safe, equitable learning opportunities that prepare children for adulthood. The education sector can also play a role in prevention by ensuring that school curricula and learning environments promote rather than undermine support for human rights, gender equality and non-discrimination against vulnerable groups. And humanitarian/emergency action that integrates attention to gender-based violence may reduce risks that children and women face in fragile contexts.

#### Enhanced reporting mechanisms and response services to violence across all

**sectors**. Globally, there is an urgent need for reporting mechanisms and response services for violence against girls, boys and adolescents across all sectors. Victims of violence need access to high-quality reporting mechanisms and response services across all sectors, as well as compassionate, competent, comprehensive care and support from professionals and paraprofessionals. All duty-bearers, professionals and paraprofessionals who interact with children and adolescents – regardless of sector – need to understand their responsibilities for recognizing and responding to cases of abuse. Key to a compassionate response are attitudes that support victims and avoid stigma, blame and minimizing of the violence or that prioritize the reputation of perpetrators (or institutions) over the well-being of victims. Evidence from low- and middle-income countries suggests that accessibility, quality and comprehensiveness of services in the justice, social welfare, health and education sectors may prevent harm and improve outcomes.<sup>77</sup> More effective service responses can also be a form of secondary prevention, by helping girls and boys find a way out of situations of ongoing violence.

Violence prevention and response are closely linked. For example, better institutional responses to violence may contribute to long-term prevention at the population level. Researchers documented a dramatic downward trend in cases of sexual and physical abuse of boys and girls in the United States over several decades, linked – at least in part – to increased numbers of law enforcement and child protection personnel, more aggressive prosecution and incarceration policies, better access to mental health treatment and growing public awareness about child abuse.<sup>78</sup>
**Multisectoral coordination.** Evidence suggests that lack of coordination among sectors can be a barrier both to prevention and to comprehensive service responses. While this theory of change reserves a dedicated space in the results chain for coordinated, multisectoral action, each sector must find ways to contribute to multisectoral coordination as part of efforts to strengthen system and institutional responses to violence. No individual sector can provide a comprehensive package of prevention or service responses that child victims may need, and all sectors need to consider how to contribute to referral networks that link or integrate health, law enforcement and social services; coalitions and task forces for planning and prevention; and community-based child protection mechanism that mobilize grass-roots leaders and organizations. Understanding how best to implement multisectoral approaches is still an emerging area of work, however.

#### Rationale for strategies

**Strengthening prevention and response to violence across whole systems and whole institutions.** Evidence suggests that efforts to get whole systems and institutions to integrate attention to violence throughout their policies and programmes are almost always more effective than narrow policy changes or short-term projects, regardless of sector.<sup>79</sup> For example, 'whole school' approaches to violence prevention and response have emerged as an important strategy in the education sector.<sup>80</sup> Similarly, decades of experience from the health sector suggest that narrow initiatives to change providers' responses to violence against women and girls through training are rarely effective or sustainable without a systems approach that includes changes across whole institutions and systems.<sup>81</sup>

Attitudes and practices of duty-bearers and professionals often change slowly, and sustainable change often requires more supportive institutions and work environments – including policies, protocols, infrastructure, supplies, adequate staffing levels, referral networks and multisectoral collaboration. Whole system approaches also harmonize with UNICEF's long history of commitment to child protection system strengthening. A systems approach also builds on UNICEF's work with countries to increase the capacity of whole sectors to address violence against girls and boys in countries around the world, particularly in the field of child protection and education.

Systems and institutions need policies, protocols, supplies, infrastructure, human resources and referral networks. Institutions need accountability mechanisms to ensure that professionals and paraprofessionals do not have harmful attitudes or practices towards victims, including discriminatory attitudes against girls. An adequately sized and prepared workforce is essential. Institutions may also need to ensure that they have enough female and male service providers to make reporting and response services accessible to both girls and boys. Once reporting systems and response services are prepared to respond to cases of violence against girls and boys in appropriate ways, with referral systems and support services of adequate quality, the next challenge is to increase access to and coverage of those services. Overcoming this challenge often requires addressing social norms and lack of awareness that may pose barriers to disclosure and help-seeking.

### Sector-specific outcomes, outputs and strategies

#### Justice (J) outcome

Justice sector systems and institutions have improved access to child-friendly justice and enforcement of laws that protect girls, boys and adolescents from violence and discrimination.

Output	High-priority strategies
The justice sector has strengthened the <b>capacity of whole systems and</b> <b>institutions</b> to address violence against girls and boys, including adolescents, in accord with a systems approach.	<ul> <li>Invest in child-friendly justice reforms and enhanced support for child victims, in accord with international norms (e.g. UN Model Strategies).</li> </ul>
Social welfare (SW) outcome	

Social welfare systems, including child protection, have strengthened access to high-quality prevention and responses to violence against girls, boys and adolescents, especially the most vulnerable.

Output	High-priority strate
The social welfare sector, including the child protection system, has	<ul> <li>Invest in the social v protection workforce</li> </ul>
strengthened the <b>capacity of whole</b> systems and institutions to address	Invest in enhanced of

violence against girls and boys, including adolescents, in accord with a systems approach.

#### tegies

- welfare and child ce.
- case management services and information systems.

#### Health (H) outcome

Health systems and institutions have strengthened violence-related public health research and prevention as well as case detection, care and support for girls, boys and adolescents who experience violence.

Output	High-priority strategies
The health sector has strengthened the <b>capacity of whole systems and</b> <b>institutions</b> to address violence against girls and boys, including adolescents, in accord with a systems approach.	<ul> <li>Align protocols and practices with international clinical guidelines on child sexual abuse and child maltreatment.</li> <li>Invest in enhanced post-rape care for girls and boys.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Integrate attention to violence in public health programming.</li> </ul>

#### **Education (E) outcome**

**Education systems and institutions** provide greater access to safe, inclusive, gender-equitable education, life skills and livelihood programmes, responsive to all forms of violence against girls, boys and adolescents.

Output	High-priority strategies	
The education system has strengthened the <b>capacity of whole</b> <b>systems and institutions</b> to address violence against girls and boys, including adolescents, in accord with a systems approach.	<ul> <li>Implement whole-school violence initiatives.</li> <li>Integrate attention to violence in and around schools in education policies, plans and programmes.</li> </ul>	
Humanitarian/emergency (H/E) outcome		

**Humanitarian/emergency** actions have increased access to and quality of prevention and responses to violence against children and gender-based violence against women and children.

Output	High-priority strategies
Humanitarian/emergency actions have strengthened the <b>capacity of whole</b> <b>systems and institutions</b> to address violence against girls and boys, including adolescents, in accord with a systems approach.	<ul> <li>Gender-based violence in emergencies programming in accord with UNICEF's framework and theory of change.</li> <li>Family reunification strategies in emergencies and other support for separated or unaccompanied children.</li> </ul>

Note: Blue font indicates INSPIRE strategies.

In keeping with previous work by UNICEF, this theory of change reflects the understanding that child protection includes multisectoral efforts to address underlying risks and vulnerabilities that lead to violence and exploitation.<sup>82</sup> These include work carried out by many sectors, including justice, social welfare, health and education. Meanwhile, child protection services are understood as those that specifically aim to protect children from harm – particularly, but not exclusively, within social welfare systems.

#### Rationale for sector-specific strategies

A comprehensive discussion on how to improve violence prevention and response within each sector is beyond the scope of this document. Evidence and international guidance about effective or at least promising approaches to violence against children are evolving quickly. Staying abreast of good practices may require UNICEF staff to collaborate closely with agencies that are continuously reviewing evidence and developing international norms, guidelines, tools and plans of actions, including UNODC for the justice sector, UNESCO for the education sector and WHO for the health sector. Nonetheless, the rationale for selected priority actions in each sector is described below.

#### Justice: Invest in reforms to achieve child-friendly justice in accord with

*international norms.* As noted earlier, child-friendly justice is based on the principle that civil, administrative and criminal justice systems must protect the rights and wellbeing of all children who come into contact with these systems, whether as victims, witnesses or children in conflict with the law.<sup>83</sup> Achieving child-friendly justice may require reforms across whole systems and institutions. These include specialized courts and/or juvenile justice systems, protocols and programmes for providing support to child victims and witnesses, additional resources, staff training, equipment and multisectoral collaboration.<sup>84</sup> UNICEF has worked to increase access to child-friendly justice in many settings, as documented in Central and Eastern Europe and Central Asia.<sup>85</sup>

## United Nations Model Strategies for justice sector responses to violence against children

A key resource for countries wanting to improve the criminal justice sector response to violence is UNODC's guide, *Planning the implementation of the United Nations model strategies and practical measures on the elimination of violence against children in the field of crime prevention and criminal justice: A checklist* (www.unodc.org/documents/justice-and-prison-reform/14-08452\_ Ebook.pdf). The UN Model Strategies aim to improve the capacity of the criminal justice system to prevent, prohibit and respond to all forms of violence against children, including children in contact with the justice system.

**Social welfare: Invest in the social welfare and child protection workforce**. The social welfare/child protection/social service workforce includes paid and unpaid professionals and paraprofessionals, both governmental and nongovernmental. They staff programmes aimed at alleviating poverty, reducing discrimination and promoting social justice — all of which may contribute to preventing violence. The social welfare workforce also plays a key role in helping children, adolescents and families access services, including victims of violence, abuse, exploitation, neglect and family separation. In many countries, social welfare systems are chronically underfunded, so increasing the size and preparedness of the workforce is a first step in the longer process of systems strengthening.<sup>86</sup> **Investing in case management services and information systems** is another important priority action for UNICEF, supported by growing international guidance and tools.<sup>87,88</sup>

*Health: Align protocols and practice with international norms and clinical guidelines for child maltreatment, child sexual abuse and post-rape care for girls and boys.* This is an important way to improve service responses.<sup>89</sup> Violence has implications for all dimensions of child and adolescent health. Health providers are often the first to detect cases of abuse, and victims often have both acute and long-term needs for health care and support. Therefore, all health providers who care for children and adolescents need to be prepared to respond to cases of violence, supported by institutional resources adequate to protect confidentiality, privacy and safety. Countries can draw on a large body of good practice knowledge about responding to violence,<sup>90</sup> though much of this has focused on violence against women and girls<sup>91</sup> or on humanitarian contexts.<sup>92</sup> This body of evidence supports the need for a systems approach, as noted earlier. WHO is currently developing guide-lines for responding to violence against girls and boys, expected within the next year or so, including:

- Clinical guidelines for responding to sexual assault/rape or contact sexual abuse of children and adolescents. See www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/violence/ development-guidelines/en/
- Guidelines for the health sector response to child maltreatment. See www.who.int/ violence\_injury\_prevention/violence/child/child\_maltreatment\_guidelines/en/

**Integrating attention to violence within public health programming** is another priority action that includes many prevention efforts among parents and caregivers as well as adolescents, described later in this document.

*Education: Increase access to safe, inclusive, gender-equitable education, life skills and livelihood programmes that can respond to all forms of violence against girls, boys and adolescents.* There is a large and growing body of knowledge about how to address violence against children and adolescents within the education sector.<sup>93</sup> This includes strategies to reduce levels of violence against children in and on the way to school; strategies to reduce barriers to education among girls and boys; and specialized life skills and livelihood programmes that contribute to long-term violence prevention. UNICEF has been heavily involved in this work, in collaboration with UNESCO and many other agencies, and programme guidance is evolving rapidly.<sup>94</sup> *'Whole-school' violence initiatives* are one example of an emerging model that shows promise for low and middle-income settings.<sup>95,96</sup>

*Humanitarian/emergency action: a cross-cutting issue and a dedicated area of work*.UNICEF plays such an important role in addressing violence against children and women in emergency settings that humanitarian/emergency action has been given a dedicated set of results and strategies within this results chain. It draws from the UNICEF gender-based violence in emergencies programming framework and theory of change, as well as UNICEF's work related to unaccompanied and separated children. Emergency situations, such as armed conflict and natural disasters, have cross-cutting implications for all parts of the results chain in this theory of change, however, including the work of each sector. For example, for the education sector international guidelines have been developed to protect schools and universities from military use and attack.<sup>97</sup> In the health sector, there is a large body of programming guidance on gender-based violence in emergencies, including sexual violence against women and girls.<sup>98</sup> In social welfare, there are guidelines for addressing the needs of unaccompanied and separated children who experience sexual violence.<sup>99</sup> In addition, UNICEF has developed guidance for risk-informed programming for all countries regardless of circumstances.<sup>100</sup>

## Society/communities

### Outcome

Communities are more engaged in:

- Protecting the right of all girls and boys to grow up free of violence and discrimination, regardless of age, sex, disability or any other social or economic disadvantage
- Creating safer environments for girls, boys and adolescents.

Output	High-priority strategies
Communities, civil society and community-based organizations have greater awareness of children's rights, including the right of girls and boys to grow up free of violence and discrimination, regardless of age, sex, disability or any other social or economic disadvantage.	<ul> <li>C4D strategies to change social norms about gender, violence and discrimination, build social cohesion and mobilize communities to address violence and discrimination against girls, boys and adolescents, particularly the most vulnerable. (J, H, SW, E) For example:</li> <li>Mass media awareness campaigns</li> <li>Communication for social change (e.g. 'edutainment').</li> <li>Community workshops, such as those focused on promoting positive parenting or intimate partner violence, or both.</li> <li>Mobilize communities and community-based organizations to prevent and respond to violence and discrimination against girls, boy, and adolescents, particularly the most vulnerable. (H, SW, E)</li> <li>Strategies by institutions in each sector (e.g. justice, social welfare, health and education) to collaborate with civil society and community-based organizations through coalitions, referral networks, awareness raising and other forms of community outreach. (Also see similar strategy in systems strengthening section above.)</li> </ul>

Note: Blue font indicates INSPIRE strategies.

#### Rationale for outcome and output

A growing body of evidence suggests that the broader societal and community environment has an important influence on whether or not girls and boys are protected from violence and receive adequate care and support when they experience it.<sup>101</sup> Evidence suggests that raising awareness and changing social norms that support violence are essential components of long-term prevention and better responses to violence.<sup>102</sup> Norms that condone violence against girls and boys, prioritize family reputation over victim well-being and blame victims for violence they experience are widespread in many settings. For example, around the world, substantial proportions of girls, boys, women and men support the 'necessity' of physical punishment for raising children,<sup>103</sup> the acceptability of wife-beating and male entitlement to control women.<sup>104</sup> These norms facilitate violence and pose barriers to help-seeking.<sup>105</sup> Conversely, gender norms about masculinity may pose barriers to disclosure for boys who experience sexual violence.<sup>106</sup>

Key components of protective environments may also include social inclusion, strong civil society networks and groups, informal social networks, safe and accessible public spaces, increased access to services, and reduced proliferation of weapons and substance abuse.

#### Rationale for strategies

**C4D and community mobilization strategies** show promise for raising awareness of violence and changing norms that facilitate violence.<sup>107</sup> Community mobilization may also have potential to reduce social, economic, legal and political power imbalances based on generation, gender and other social or economic disadvantages and to increase community and bystander engagement in violence prevention and response.<sup>108, 109</sup> Community-based strategies have also shown promise in reducing levels of criminal violence, proliferation of weapons and the harmful use of alcohol and other substances.<sup>110</sup> However, this is an emerging area of work, and more evidence is needed to clarify the links with violence prevention.



## Households and families

Outcome		
Households and families have greater social and economic stability and security, more gender-equitable attitudes and practices, and lower levels of violence against women in the home.		
Outputs	High-priority strategies	
Vulnerable households have greater access to social and economic support programmes that integrate attention to gender equity, family violence prevention and safe transitions to adulthood.	<ul> <li>Social care and support programmes for households that integrate attention to gender equality, violence against children and violence against women. (SW)</li> <li>Cash transfer programmes, especially those that address girl's empowerment and safe transitions to adulthood for girls and boys. (SW)</li> <li>(Also see strategies mentioned earlier, including C4D strategies to promote gender equality and end violence against women and girls in the home, as well as family reunification strategies during emergencies.)</li> </ul>	

Note: Blue font indicates INSPIRE strategies.

#### Rationale for outcome and output

Evidence suggests that economic insecurity, gender inequality and violence against women in the household are household/family-level factors associated with violence against children and adolescents. Some of these links are complex, however, particularly the link between poverty and violence (see Box 6). Studies find strong correlations between economic instability/destitution/food insecurity and various forms of violence, including child maltreatment<sup>111</sup> and child sexual abuse.<sup>112</sup> In some settings, poverty is linked to higher rates of child labour, which may increase children's vulnerability to violence. Economic insecurity also contributes to family disintegration, and separation of children from their families may raise the long-term risk of violence against boys and girls.<sup>113</sup>

This outcome also focuses on gender-equitable relations within the household, including violence against women in the home. Evidence suggests that exposure to partner violence against women often co-occurs with physical child abuse; it may also increase the risk of violent discipline as well as children's risk of perpetrating or experiencing other types of violence during adolescence and adulthood. Conversely, social and economic empowerment of women in the household often correlates with increased household investment in children's education, postponement of marriage for daughters, and other factors that lower the risk of violence against girls and boys.<sup>118</sup>

## BOX 6

## The complex link between poverty and violence

Evidence suggests that the link between poverty and violence is complex. A UNICEF analysis of MICS data found higher rates of violent discipline in poorer households compared with wealthier households in 13 of 30 countries studied.<sup>114</sup> A study that used multilevel logistic regression to analyse MICS data from 28 countries found an association between all forms of child abuse and household poverty.<sup>115</sup> However, that research also found that norms supporting violence were more strongly correlated with certain kinds of violence than poverty - both at the household level (in the case of child abuse) and at the national level. This echoes evidence from multi-level analysis of data from 44 countries that norms condoning partner violence and male control of women were stronger predictors of high rates of physical and sexual partner violence against women and girls than economic indicators such as gross domestic product.<sup>116</sup> A systematic review of research from low- and middle-income countries concluded that poverty appeared most likely to increase the risk of child sexual abuse in specific circumstances; these include circumstances in which poverty, destitution or food insecurity contributed to family disruption or disintegration, forced parents to work away from home so they were unable to provide adequate child supervision, or drove girls and boys away from the protection of family environments into situations of child labour, working or living on the streets.117

#### Rationale for strategies

**Social care and economic support programmes for households** usually aim to reduce social and economic vulnerabilities to poverty and deprivation, rather than reduce violence. However, emerging evidence suggests they have potential to prevent violence against girls and boys by addressing household/ family level risk factors such as poverty-related stress, food insecurity, family disintegration/separation, long-term vulnerability to violence associated with lack of school completion and (in some settings) early child marriage.<sup>119–121</sup>

Similarly, empowering women and adolescent girls is often an explicit objective of cash transfer programmes in developing countries.<sup>122</sup> If such programmes can contribute to more egalitarian power dynamics and lower levels of partner violence against women in the home, they may have the potential to reduce child exposure to violence and the risk of other types of violence in adolescence and adulthood. Social care and economic support programmes for vulnerable families are strategies that UNICEF is already helping countries to design, implement and evaluate.<sup>123</sup> Specialized strategies to support household economic security and resilience may be needed in situations of emergencies, including forced displacement.

#### Mothers, fathers and other caregivers

Outcome		
Mothers, fathers and other caregivers have built more nurturing parent-child relationships and have improved positive parenting and gender-equitable attitudes, skills and practices.		
Outputs	High-priority strategies	
<ul> <li>Mothers, fathers and caregivers have greater:</li> <li>Access to higher quality parenting support services</li> <li>Awareness of positive parenting and child development.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Positive parenting programmes for mothers, fathers and other caregivers across the child life cycle, reinforced by C4E strategies. (SW, H, E)</li> <li>Parent and caregiver support services (e.g. home visits) for vulnerable families. (H, SW)</li> </ul>	

Note: Blue font indicates INSPIRE strategies.

#### Rationale for outcome and outputs

Evidence reviews from low- and middle-income countries highlight a number of risk and protective factors among mothers, fathers and other caregivers associated with violence against girls and boys.<sup>124</sup> *Supportive and nurturing parent/child relationships* appear to be protective, as do *attitudes, knowledge and skills that encourage positive (as opposed to harsh) parenting practices.* 

Conversely, factors that appear to raise the risk of violence include caregiver stress; mental health conditions; substance abuse; lack of social and service support; attitudes that support violent discipline, gender inequality and other harmful practices; lack of knowledge about child development; and lack of nonviolent parenting knowledge and skills. Many of these factors are associated not only with violent discipline in the home but also with other forms of violence, such as child sexual abuse and exploitation and youth violence (both victimization and perpetration). Some studies have found that mothers and fathers who believe and support girls and boys who disclose experiences of violence can help children achieve better outcomes after violence has occurred.<sup>125, 126</sup>

#### Rationale for strategies

Growing evidence suggests that a variety of **positive parenting and caregiver support programmes** have promise for improving parent-child relationships, increasing positive parenting and preventing violent discipline and other forms of child maltreatment and neglect. Much of this evidence comes from high-income countries, but evidence from low- and middle-income settings is growing.<sup>127,128</sup> Parent support programmes may include home visits for new mothers, community-based programmes for mothers and fathers, comprehensive support services for mothers, fathers and other caregivers, and multi-level strategies that include C4D strategies such as behaviour change communication programmes.<sup>129–131</sup>

Evidence of best practice in this area is still emerging, however, and there are many gaps in knowledge about which approaches work best in which settings. UNICEF staff can help countries design and invest in support for mothers, fathers and other care-givers, as well as identify local strategies that can be adapted from other settings or evaluated to identify approaches worthy of scaling up.

## Girls, boys and adolescents

#### Outcome

**Girls, boys and adolescents** are more empowered to exercise rights and agency to live free of violence and seek help when violence occurs; build healthy, gender-equitable, non-violent relationships; and postpone marriage and childbearing until adulthood.

Outputs	High-priority strategies
Girls, boys and adolescents have greater access to:	• Life skills and livelihood programmes that integrate attention to rights, gender norms, healthy relationships and violence.
<ul> <li>Education, life skills, livelihood and violence prevention programmes</li> </ul>	<ul><li>(H, E)</li><li>School-based violence prevention programmes. (E)</li></ul>
<ul> <li>Age-appropriate information about sexuality and healthy relationships</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Adolescent-friendly sexual and reproductive health services and programmes.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Knowledge about rights and where to seek help for violence.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>C4D strategies to raise awareness and promote social norms related to gender equality and nonviolence.</li> </ul>
	Note that many high-priority strategies in other parts of this proposed theory of change have potential to influence outputs and outcomes among girls, boys and adolescents. This is particularly true for strategies for increasing access to inclusive and gender- responsive education, as well as economic support for households, such as cash plus programmes designed to facilitate safe transitions to adulthood.

Note: Blue font indicates INSPIRE strategies.

#### Rationale for outcome and outputs

All results and strategies within this theory of change are intended to benefit girls, boys and adolescents. However, there are important ways in which children and adolescents themselves can be change agents in their own lives, among their peers and within their families and communities. This part of the results chain focuses on ensuring that children and adolescents have resources, including knowledge, skills and opportunities to manage challenges during the transition to adulthood.

One intended result is to *empower girls, boys and adolescents to understand and exercise their rights, and to seek help for violence when it occurs* or when they feel at risk. Another intended change is to help *children and adolescents build more gen- der-equitable, non-violent relationships,* including with peers, romantic partners, family members and others in the community. The third set of changes is to help adolescents *postpone sexual debut* until an appropriate age, and to *postpone marriage and childbearing* until they are ready to take on adult responsibilities.

Evidence suggests that all these changes have potential to contribute to long-term prevention of violence, as well as help individual children and adolescents reduce their vulnerability to violence, increase resilience and possibly lower the risk of experiencing or perpetrating violence later in life. Postponing marriage and childhood until adulthood can also help strengthen households and families in the long run.

#### Rationale for strategies

Evidence suggests that *C4D strategies that address gender norms* can help young people build more gender-equitable, respectful and nonviolent relationships with peers and partners. *School and community-based prevention programmes* may increase boys' and girls' awareness of violence and knowledge about where and how to seek help when violence occurs. *Life skills and livelihood programmes* for adolescent girls and boys may help build more gender-equitable norms, prepare for adult economic responsibilities, and help girls postpone childbearing and marriage until they are ready to be parents.<sup>132, 133</sup>

These programmes may also give adolescents the skills to form more economically secure and nonviolent families in the long run. *Adolescent-friendly sexual and repro-ductive health programmes* may also be essential for helping young people postpone childbearing until they are ready, particularly in settings where large proportions of girls begin childbearing at an early age.<sup>134, 135</sup>

It is important to note that almost all strategies in this theory of change contribute to changes in the lives of girls, boys and female and male adolescents. This includes efforts to raise awareness about violence and gender equality, make educational institutions safer and more gender equitable, strengthen the economic stability of families, and improve positive parenting. For example, cash transfer programmes are listed in this theory of change as a household economic strengthening programme, but in parts of sub-Saharan Africa, government cash transfer programmes (cash plus) have shown potential to help adolescent girls make safer transitions to adulthood by delaying sexual debut and pregnancy and reducing sexual exploitation.<sup>136–138</sup> Thus strategies that target other levels of the ecological framework may directly or indirectly produce social and behavioural change among girls, boys and adolescents relevant to the outcome and outputs in this section of the theory of change.



© UNICEF/UN052770/ROMENZI

## ANNEX A. Theories of change and results frameworks that informed this document

#### Violence against girls and boys

Together for Girls, 'Together for Girls. Ending violence against children. Results framework', TfG, Washington, DC, 2015. www.togetherforgirls.org/wp-content/uploads/ TfG\_Results\_Framework\_July2015.pdf

#### Sexual abuse and exploitation of children

Radford, Lorraine, 'Draft theory of change, sexual abuse and exploitation of children', UNICEF, New York, forthcoming.

#### Online child sexual abuse and exploitation

United Nations Children's Fund, 'Results Framework: Global programme to build capacity to tackle online child sexual exploitation', UNICEF, New York, 2015.

#### Gender-based violence in emergencies

United Nations Children's Fund, 'Gender-based violence in emergencies, game plan and theory of change', UNICEF, New York, 2016.

#### Armed violence

United Nations Children's Fund, 'Theory of change: Armed violence prevention and reduction. Multi-country programme in Latin America and the Caribbean. New York and Panama', UNICEF, Latin America and Caribbean Regional Office, Panama City, forthcoming.

#### Sexual and gender-based violence in education

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, *Education 2030. Incheon Declaration and Framework for Action: Towards Inclusive and Equitable Quality Education and Lifelong Learning for All.* UNESCO, UNDP, UNFPA, UNHCR, UNICEF, UN-Women, World Bank and ILO, Paris, 2016. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0024/002432/243278e.pdf

#### Children's access to justice

United Nations Children's Fund, 'Children's Equitable Access to Justice. A Regional Agenda & Theory of Change for Central and Eastern Europe and Central Asia', UNICEF Regional Office for Central and Eastern Europe and the Commonwealth of Independent States, Geneva, 2016. www.unicef.org/ceecis/Equitable\_access\_to\_justice\_for\_children\_in\_Central\_and\_Eastern\_Europe\_and\_Central\_Asia\_-v2\_1.pdf

#### Peacebuilding

United Nations Children's Fund, 'Communication for Development (C4D) for Peace Building 2016', UNICEF, New York, 2016.

#### Child marriage

United Nations Children's Fund, 'Results framework on child marriage 2016-2019', UNICEF, New York, 2016.

United Nations Children's Fund and United Nations Population Fund, 'Report of the inception phase of the UNICEF-UNFPA Global Programme to Accelerate Action to End Child Marriage', UNICEF and UNFPA, New York, 2015. www.unicef.org/evaluation/files/ Executive\_Summary\_FINAL\_UNICEF-UNFPA\_Inception\_Report\_Global\_Programme\_ to\_Accelerate\_the\_End\_of\_Child\_Marriage\_30102015.pdf

Girls not Brides, 'A Theory of Change', undated. www.girlsnotbrides.org/theory-of-change/

#### FGM/C

United Nations Population Fund and United Nations Children's Fund, 'Results-based management framework and plan: UNFPA-UNICEF Joint Programme on Female Genital Mutilation/Cutting: Accelerating change phase II - 2014-2017', UNFPA and UNICEF, New York, 2015.

#### **Child protection**

United Nations Children's Fund, *Child Protection Resource Pack: How to plan, monitor and evaluate child protection programmes*, UNICEF, New York, 2015. www.unicef.org/protection/files/CPR-WEB.pdf

# ANNEX B. Risk and protective factors associated with violence against girls and boys, including adolescents

Factors associated with physical, sexual and emotional abuse of girls and boys, including adolescents, documented in reviews of the global and regional evidence, with particular attention to evidence from low- and middle-income countries.<sup>139-149</sup>

Level	Risk factors	Protective factors
Macro/ structural contexts such as humanitarian and emergency situations	<ul> <li>Armed conflict, natural disaster, high levels of criminal/gang violence</li> <li>Emergencies that undermine systems and institutions</li> <li>Displacement (forced or voluntary)</li> <li>High rates of family separation, unaccompanied minors</li> <li>Fragile states (political, economic, etc.)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Strong humanitarian programmes that mitigate the risks that children face in emergency situations</li> <li>Risk-informed policies and programmes across all sectors</li> </ul>
Legal frameworks, systems and institutions	<ul> <li>Weak legal frameworks (criminal codes, policies and regulations) that do not provide strong protection from violence against children</li> <li>Lack of legal and regulatory protections for children's rights more generally</li> <li>Justice sector systems and institutions that lack capacity or resources to uphold the rule of law, reduce impunity and protect children from harm</li> <li>Lack of accessible, high-quality services and reporting mechanisms</li> <li>Weak institutional capacity to respond to violence against children within the justice, health, education and social welfare sectors</li> <li>Lack of comprehensive or integrated services</li> <li>Professionals who lack awareness of violence against children or the preparation or attitudes to support victims</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Strong legal and policy frameworks that protect children's rights</li> <li>Systems and institutions with capacity to address physical and sexual violence against girls and boys</li> <li>Institutional commitment to address violence against children as a human rights and public health issue</li> </ul>
Community/ society	<ul> <li>Lack of societal/community awareness (invisibility) of violence against children</li> <li>Social norms that support or tolerate violence and stigmatize or blame victims</li> <li>Social norms that prioritize family privacy or family or perpetrator reputation above victim well-being</li> <li>Social norms that support gender inequality</li> <li>Social norms that support discrimination against girls and boys in situations of vulnerability</li> <li>High levels of social, economic, legal and political disempowerment based on generation, gender or other social or economic disadvantage</li> <li>High levels of violence in the community, including criminal activity and armed conflict</li> <li>Proliferation of arms in the community</li> <li>High levels of alcohol and other substance abuse</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Recognition of violence against children as a human rights and public health problem</li> <li>Social norms that support gender equity and equal rights; respect for the rights of all boys and girls, regardless of disability or social or economic disadvantage</li> <li>Community engagement in protecting girls and boys from violence and discrimination</li> <li>Community access to legal protection and services</li> <li>Strong legal and policy frameworks</li> <li>High levels of social inclusion</li> </ul>

Level	Risk factors	Protective factors
Households and families	<ul> <li>Poverty-related household stress</li> <li>Destitution; food insecurity</li> <li>Family disruption, disintegration and separation</li> <li>Presence of a non-biological caregiver</li> <li>Gender inequality in the family</li> <li>Marital conflict/exposure to violence against women in the home</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Social welfare systems that support families</li> <li>Informal social support networks</li> <li>Economic security</li> <li>Stable, supportive family relationships</li> <li>Gender equity, nonviolent family environments</li> <li>Family support for education and postponing marriage and childbearing until adulthood (especially for girls)</li> </ul>
Mothers, fathers and caregivers	<ul> <li>Parental stress; lack of social and service support</li> <li>Mental health conditions including substance abuse and depression</li> <li>Attitudes that support violent discipline and other harmful practices</li> <li>Harsh parenting practices</li> <li>Lack of positive parenting knowledge/skills</li> <li>Lack of awareness about violence against children</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Close, nurturing parent-child relationships</li> <li>Awareness, skills and support for nonviolent childrearing</li> <li>Access to social support and services for mothers, fathers and other caregivers</li> <li>Supportive (belief) response from mothers and fathers when violence is disclosed</li> <li>Gender-equitable norms</li> </ul>
Individual girls and boys including adolescents	<ul> <li>Age and sex</li> <li>History of earlier violence victimization</li> <li>Extreme poverty; food insecurity</li> <li>Living with a disability</li> <li>Loss of a parent; family separation</li> <li>Living in institutional care, deprived of liberty; other social or economic disadvantage</li> <li>Exposure to violence against mother</li> <li>Child marriage (before age 18)</li> <li>Involvement in child labour</li> <li>Stigmatized sexual orientation or gender identity</li> <li>Migrant or refugee status, especially if unaccompanied by parents</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Gender-equitable norms</li> <li>Knowledge and skills about sexuality and healthy relationships</li> <li>Access to safe, inclusive education and life skills</li> <li>Skills, attitudes and psychosocial support needed to postpone early sexual debut, marriage and childbearing</li> <li>Awareness of violence and knowledge of how/ where to seek help</li> <li>Close, supportive relationships with mothers, fathers and other caregivers</li> <li>Personal resilience (for recovering after abuse has occurred, including coping skills and self-esteem)</li> </ul>
Individuals (as actual or potential perpetrators)	<ul> <li>Substance abuse and mental health disorders</li> <li>Exposure to violence or neglect in childhood (as a victim or a witness to violence against the mother)</li> <li>Attitudes about male entitlement to sex and right to control women and girls</li> <li>Involvement with gangs/organized crime</li> <li>Support for social norms that condone violent discipline at home or school, partner violence against women or harmful practices</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Access to early intervention for adverse events</li> <li>Access to mental health and substance abuse services</li> </ul>

## ANNEX C. Summary of priority strategies for action

#### **Cross-cutting actions**

- Review and strengthen risk-informed policies and programmes across all results areas so child protection strategies continue seamlessly across
  humanitarian and development cycles, including in situations of armed conflict, forced displacement and other emergency situations.
- Integrate attention to armed conflict and other emergencies into violence-related policies and programmes.
- Implement C4D approaches to encourage social norm change related to violence against children across all sectors and levels of society.

#### National, multisectoral, coordinated action

- Build and disseminate the evidence base on violence against children and adolescents (research, mapping, surveillance and monitoring).
- Implement 'research to action' strategies to raise awareness and mobilize action.
- Develop multisectoral, multi-stakeholder planning mechanisms (e.g. task forces, coalitions), with child/adolescent participation.
- Develop, adopt, cost, fund, implement and monitor coordinated, multisectoral national plans to address violence against girls and boys, including
  adolescents, with results frameworks and accountability mechanisms.
- Develop public expenditure tracking mechanisms.
- Develop action plans under the MRM where applicable (e.g. in situations of armed conflict).

#### Legal and policy frameworks

- Review laws and policies for compliance/accord with international norms related to violence and discrimination (e.g. CRC, CEDAW and UN Model Strategies).
- Advocate for legal and policy reform and implementation (J)
- Reform laws and policies (including criminal, civil and administrative codes, policies and regulations) with child and adolescent participation, including those that address (J):
  - » Violent discipline (home and school), child sexual abuse and exploitation, and access to weapons
  - » Protection of children and adolescents from violence and discrimination more generally
  - » Gender inequality and discrimination
  - » Access to child-friendly justice.
- Develop campaigns to raise awareness of and support for violence-related laws and rights.

#### Prevention, reporting mechanisms and response services within each sector

- Adopt 'systems approaches' for whole system and whole institutional capacity building, including:
  - » Review, revise and implement stronger normative frameworks (e.g. policies, protocols, codes of conduct, plans of action, etc.) relevant to violence against children and adolescents, in accord with international norms.
  - » Carry out comprehensive mapping of whole sector/system/institution-wide resources and gaps, both within each sector and across the child protection system as a whole.
  - » Invest in administrative data collection systems that track cases of child abuse and neglect; monitor institutional and professional practices; and document sector-specific expenditures.
  - » Invest in institutional resources (e.g. infrastructure, data systems, equipment, supplies, referral networks, etc.) based on comprehensive needs assessments in each sector.
  - » Invest in workforce preparedness to address violence against children and adolescents, including training, sensitizing, hiring and retaining more and better qualified duty-bearers, professionals and paraprofessionals.
  - » Build referral networks and enhance multisectoral collaboration and community outreach.
  - » Integrate attention to the implications of violence across all policies and programming.
  - » Invest in reporting systems, case detection, responses, referrals, monitoring, care and support.
  - » Invest in dedicated, evidence-based violence prevention initiatives in each sector.

#### Justice sector prevention and response (J)

Implement system-wide reforms to provide access to child-friendly justice and enhanced support for child victims, in accord with international norms.

#### Social welfare prevention and response (SW)

- Invest in the social welfare and child protection workforce.
- Invest in case management services and information systems.

#### Health sector prevention and response (H)

- Use a systems approach to improve the health service response to violence against children and adolescents.
- Align protocols and practice with international clinical guidelines on child sexual abuse and child maltreatment.
- Invest in enhanced post-rape care for girls and boys.
- Integrate attention to violence within public health programming for children and adolescents.

#### Education prevention and response (E)

- Adopt whole-school violence initiatives.
- Integrate attention to violence in and around schools into education policies and programmes.
- · Protect children from violence in schools in situations of armed conflict.

#### Humanitarian/emergency programming (H/E)

- Implement gender-based violence in emergencies programming.
- Implement family reunification strategies in emergencies.

#### Society/communities

- Adopt C4D strategies to change social norms about gender, violence and discrimination. (J, H, SW, E)
- Mobilize communities and community-based organizations to prevent and respond to violence and discrimination against girls and boys, including adolescents, particularly the most vulnerable. (H, SW, E)

#### **Households/families**

- Implement social care and support programmes for households that integrate attention to gender equality, violence against children and violence against women. (SW)
- Implement cash transfer programmes, especially those that address girls' empowerment and safe transitions to adulthood for girls and boys. (SW)

#### Mothers, fathers and caregivers

- Develop positive parenting programmes for mothers, fathers and caregivers across the child life cycle, reinforced by C4D strategies. (SW, H, E)
- Provide parent and caregiver support services (e.g. home visits) for vulnerable families. (H, SW)

#### Girls, boys and adolescents

- Implement life skills and livelihood programmes that integrate attention to rights, gender norms, healthy relationships and violence. (H, E)
- Adopt school-based violence prevention programmes. (E)
- Implement adolescent-friendly sexual and reproductive health services and prevention programmes. (H)
- Adopt C4D strategies to raise awareness and change norms among adolescents.

## **ENDNOTES**

- United Nations, Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Resolution Adopted by the United Nations General Assembly on 25 September 2015. UN, New York, 2015. www.un.org/ga/search/view\_ doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=E
- United Nations Children's Fund, Protecting Children from Violence: A Comprehensive Evaluation of Unicef's Strategies and Programme Performance. Evaluation Summary. UNICEF, Evaluation Office, New York, 2015.
- Turner, Heather A., et al., 'Polyvictimization and Youth Violence Exposure across Contexts', *Journal of Adolescent Health*, vol 58, no. 2, 2015, pp. 208–214.
- Wilkins, Natalie, et al., Connecting the Dots: An Overview of the Links among Multiple Forms of Violence. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Prevention Institute, Atlanta, GA and Oakland, CA, 2014. www.cdc.gov/ violenceprevention/pub/connecting\_dots.html
- World Health Organization, *INSPIRE: Seven* Strategies for Ending Violence against Children.
   WHO, United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Global Partnership to End Violence Against Children, Pan American Health Organization, United States President's Emergency Plan For AIDS Relief, Together for Girls, UNICEF, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, United States Agency for International Development, World Bank, Geneva, 2016. www.who.int/violence\_injury\_ prevention/media/news/2016/12\_07/en/
- United Nations Children's Fund, Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/publications/index\_74865.html
- United Nations Children's Fund, Ending Violence against Children: Six Strategies for Action. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef.org/ publications/index\_74866.html

- 8. Hillis, Susan, et al., 'Global Prevalence of Past-Year Violence against Children: A Systematic Review and Minimum Estimates', *Pediatrics*, vol 137, no. 3, 2016, pp. e2015407.
- 9. United Nations Children's Fund, *Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children,* UNICEF, New York, 2014, p. 7. www.unicef.org/publications/index\_74865.html
- 10. United Nations Children's Fund, 'UNICEF Global Databases', UNICEF, New York, 2016. https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-protection/overview/
- 11. United Nations Children's Fund, *Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children*. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/publications/index\_74865.html
- 12. Child Protection Monitoring and Evaluation Reference Group, *Measuring Violence against Children: Inventory and Assessment of Quantitative Studies*. UNICEF CPMERG, New York, 2014. www.unicef.org/ecuador/CP\_MERG\_ REPORT.pdf
- United Nations Children's Fund, Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/publications/index\_74865.html
- Stoltenborgh, Marije, et al., 'A Global Perspective on Child Sexual Abuse: Meta-Analysis of Prevalence around the World', Child Maltreatment, vol 16, no. 2, 2011, pp. 79–101.
- Sumner, S.A., et al., 'Prevalence of Sexual Violence against Children and Use of Social Services - Seven Countries, 2007–2013', Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, vol 64, no. 21, 2015, pp. 565–9.
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, School Violence and Bullying: Global Status Report. Education 2030, UNESCO, Paris, 2017. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0024/002469/246970e.pdf

- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, 'School-Related Gender-Based Violence Is Preventing the Achievement of Quality Education for All'. Policy Paper 17. UNESCO Global Monitoring Report and United Nations Girls' Education Initiative, Paris, 2015. http://en.unesco.org/gem-report/node/818
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women, *Global Guidance on Addressing School-Related Gender-Based Violence*, UNESCO, Paris, 2016. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0024/002466/246651E.pdf
- 19. Global Initiative to End All Corporal Punishment of Children, *Corporal Punishment of Children: Summaries of Prevalence and Attitudinal Research in the Last 10 Years*, 2016. www.end corporalpunishment.org/assets/pdfs/researchsummaries/Global research summaries.pdf
- Ogando Portela, Maria Jose and Kirrily Pells, 'Corporal Punishment in Schools: Longitudinal Evidence from Ethiopia, India, Peru and Viet Nam'. Innocenti Discussion Paper 2015–02. UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti, Florence, Italy, 2015. www.younglives.org.uk/sites/www. younglives.org.uk/files/Corporal Punishment in Schools.pdf
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, School Violence and Bullying: Global Status Report. Education 2030, UNESCO, Paris, 2017. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0024/002469/246970e.pdf
- 22. Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children, Ending the Torment: Tackling Bullying from the Schoolyard to Cyberspace, SRSG, New York, 2016. http://srsg.violenceagainstchildren. org/sites/default/files/2016/End bullying/ bullyingreport.pdf
- 23. United Nations Children's Fund, *Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children,* UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/publications/index\_74865.html

- 24. Ibid.
- 25. World Health Organization, Global and Regional Estimates of Violence against Women: Prevalence and Health Effects of Intimate Partner Violence and Non-Partner Sexual Violence. WHO Department of Reproductive Health and Research, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, and South African Medical Research Council, 2013. www.who.int/reproductivehealth/ publications/violence/9789241564625/en/
- 26. Kidman, Rachel, 'Child Marriage and Intimate Partner Violence: A Comparative Study of 34 Countries', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol 46, no. 2, 2016, pp 662–675.
- 27. United Nations Children's Fund, *Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children*, UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/publications/index\_74865.html
- Radford, Lorraine, Debbie Allnock and Patricia Hynes, 'Preventing and Responding to Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation: Evidence Review', UNICEF, New York, 2015.
- 29. United Nations Children's Fund, *Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children.* UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/publications/index\_74865.html
- United Nations Children's Fund, Child Disciplinary Practices at Home: Evidence from a Range of Low-and Middle-Income Countries, UNICEF, New York, 2010. www.unicef.org/protection/Child\_ Disciplinary\_Practices\_at\_Home.pdf
- Meinck, F., et al., 'Risk and Protective Factors for Physical and Sexual Abuse of Children and Adolescents in Africa: A Review and Implications for Practice', *Trauma, Violence and Abuse*, vol 16, no. 1, 2015, pp. 81–107.
- 32. Maternowska, M. C., A. Potts and D. Fry, 'The Multi-Country Study on the Drivers of Violence Affecting Children: A Cross-Country Snapshot of Findings'. UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti, Florence, Italy, 2016. www.unicef-irc.org/e-book/ THE-MULTI-COUNTRY-STUDY-PAGER/HTML

- Stoltenborgh, Marije, et al., 'A Global Perspective on Child Sexual Abuse: Meta-Analysis of Prevalence around the World', *Child Maltreatment*, vol 16, no. 2, 2011, pp. 79–101.
- Sumner, S.A., et al., 'Prevalence of Sexual Violence against Children and Use of Social Services - Seven Countries, 2007–2013', *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol 64, no. 21, 2015, pp. 565–569.
- Kidman, Rachel, 'Child Marriage and Intimate Partner Violence: A Comparative Study of 34 Countries', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol 46, no. 2, 2016, pp 662–675.
- United Nations Children's Fund, Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children, UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/publications/index\_74865.html
- Jewkes, Rachel, et al., 'Prevalence of and Factors Associated with Non-Partner Rape Perpetration: Findings from the UN Multi-Country Cross-Sectional Study on Men and Violence in Asia and the Pacific', *Lancet Global Health*, vol 1, no. 4, 2013, pp. e208–18.
- Jewkes, Rachel, et al., 'Gender Inequitable Masculinity and Sexual Entitlement in Rape Perpetration South Africa: Findings of a Cross-Sectional Study', *PLoS One*, vol 6, no. 12, 2011, pp. e29590.
- Wilkins, Natalie, et al., Connecting the Dots: An Overview of the Links among Multiple Forms of Violence. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Prevention Institute, Atlanta, GA and Oakland, CA, 2014. www.cdc.gov/ violenceprevention/pub/connecting\_dots.html
- United Nations Children's Fund, Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/publications/index\_74865.html
- Akmatov, M. K., 'Child Abuse in 28 Developing and Transitional Countries--Results from the Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol 40, no. 1, 2011, pp. 219–27.

- 42. United Nations Children's Fund, UNICEF Child Protection Strategy. United Nations Economic and Social Council, New York, 2008. www.unicef. org/protection/CP\_Strategy\_English(1).pdf
- 43. United Nations Children's Fund, *Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children.* UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/publications/index\_74865.html
- Felitti, V. J., et al., 'Relationship of Childhood Abuse and Household Dysfunction to Many of the Leading Causes of Death in Adults. The Adverse Childhood Experiences (Ace) Study', *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol 14, no. 4, 1998, pp. 245–58.
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, School Violence and Bullying: Global Status Report. Education 2030. UNESCO, Paris, 2017. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0024/002469/246970e.pdf
- 46. United Nations Children's Fund, UNICEF Child Protection Strategy, United Nations Economic and Social Council, New York, 2008, p. 1. www. unicef.org/protection/CP\_Strategy\_English(1).pdf
- 47. United Children's Fund, *Ending Violence against Children: Six Strategies for Action*. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef.org/publications/ index\_74866.html
- 48. Krug, Etienne G., et al., eds. *World Report on Violence and Health*. World Health Organization, Geneva, 2002. www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/violence/world\_report/en/
- Bott, Sarah, Andrew R. Morrison and Mary Ellsberg, 'Preventing and Responding to Gender-Based Violence in Middle and Low-Income Countries: A Global Review and Analysis'. Policy Research Working Paper. World Bank, Poverty Reduction and Economic Management Sector Unit, Gender and Development Group, Washington, DC, 2005. https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/handle/10986/8210
- 50. United Nations Children's Fund, UNICEF Child Protection Strategy. United Nations Economic and Social Council, New York, 2008. www.unicef. org/protection/CP\_Strategy\_English(1).pdf

- Guerrero, Gabriela and Vanessa Rojas, Understanding Children's Experiences of Violence in Peru: Evidence from Young Lives. UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti, Florence, Italy, 2016. www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/ IWP\_2016\_17.pdf
- 52. United Nations Children's Fund, UNICEF Child Protection Strategy. United Nations Economic and Social Council, New York, 2008. www.unicef. org/protection/CP\_Strategy\_English(1).pdf
- 53. Pinheiro, Paulo Sérgio, *World Report on Violence against Children: Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children.* United Nations, Geneva, 2006. www.unicef.org/violencestudy/ reports.html
- United Nations Children's Fund, Revised Supplementary Programme Note on the Theory of Change for the UNICEF Strategic Plan, 2014– 2017. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/strategicplan/files/2014-CRP\_14-Theory\_of\_ Change-7May14-EN.pdf
- 55. United Nations Children's Fund, *Monitoring* and Reporting Mechanism on Grave Violations against Children in Situations of Armed Conflict. UN Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General for Children and Armed Conflict, United Nations Department of Peacekeeping Operations and UNICEF, New York, 2014. https://childrenandarmedconflict. un.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/MRM\_ Guidelines\_-\_5\_June\_20141.pdf
- United Nations Children's Fund, Risk-Informed Programming Guidance – Child Protection. UNICEF, New York, 2016.
- 57. CPMERG, Measuring Violence against Children: Inventory and Assessment of Quantitative Studies. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/ecuador/CP\_MERG\_REPORT.pdf
- United Nations Children's Fund, 'Data and Indicators to Measure Adolescent Health, Social Development and Well-Being'. Innocenti Research Briefs. UNICEF Office of Research– Innocenti, Florence, Italy, 2017. www.unicef-irc. org/publications/pdf/IRB\_2017\_04\_Adol02.pdf

- 59. United Nations Children's Fund, *Child Protection Resource Pack: How to Plan, Monitor and Evaluate Child Protection Programmes.* UNICEF, Programme Division (Child Protection Section); Division of Data, Research and Policy (Data and Analytics Section); Evaluation Office, New York, 2015. www.unicef.org/protection/files/CPR-WEB.pdf
- 60. United Nations Children's Fund, *Ethical Principles, Dilemmas and Risks in Collecting Data on Violence against Children*. UNICEF Statistics and Monitoring Section/Division of Policy and Strategy, New York, 2012. https:// data.unicef.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/ EPDRCLitReview\_193.pdf
- United Nations Children's Fund, 'Methods: Conducting Research with Adolescents in Lowand Middle-Income Countries: Research Briefs'. UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti, Florence, Italy, 2017. www.unicef-irc.org/adolescentresearch-methods/
- 62. Together for Girls, 'From Research to Action: Advancing Prevention and Response to Violence against Children. Report on the Global Violence against Children Meeting, Ezulwini, Swaziland, May 2014'. Together for Girls Partnership, Washington, DC, 2014. www.togetherforgirls. org/wp-content/uploads/Swaziland-Global-VAC-Meeting-Report.pdf
- 63. United Nations Children's Fund, *The Multi-Sector Task Force: A National Response to Violence against Children in Tanzania*. UNICEF Tanzania, Dar es Salaam, 2011. www.togetherforgirls.org/ wp-content/uploads/Tanzania-Multi-Sector-Task-Force\_National-Response-to-Violence-Against-Children.pdf
- 64. Government of Tanzania, *National Plan of Action* to End Violence against Women and Children in Tanzania. United Republic of Tanzania, Dar es Salaam, 2016. www.mcdgc.go.tz/data/NPA\_ VAWC.pdf

- 65. Together for Girls, 'From Research to Action: Advancing Prevention and Response to Violence against Children. Report on the Global Violence against Children Meeting, Ezulwini, Swaziland, May 2014'. Together for Girls Partnership, Washington, DC, 2014. www.togetherforgirls. org/wp-content/uploads/Swaziland-Global-VAC-Meeting-Report.pdf
- Together for Girls, Considerations for Developing Comprehensive National Actions to Prevent and Respond to Violence against Children. Together for Girls, Washington, DC, 2015.
   www.togetherforgirls.org/wp-content/uploads/ TfG-NAP-Guidance\_June-20151.pdf
- 67. United Nations Children's Fund, 'A Financial Benchmark for Child Protection: Full Benchmark Proposal'. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/protection/files/UNICEF\_CP\_Benchmark\_ proposal\_integrated\_final\_report\_rev.pdf
- 68. End Violence, 'Economic Costing Model Software'. Global Partnership to End Violence against Children, Washington, DC, 2016. www. end-violence.org/costing\_model.html
- 69. Heise, Lori, *What Works to Prevent Partner Violence? An Evidence Overview*. STRIVE Research Consortium, London, 2011. http://strive. lshtm.ac.uk/resources/what-works-preventpartner-violence-evidence-overview
- Bussman, Kai-D., Claudia Erthal and Andreas Schroth, 'Effects of Banning Corporal Punishment in Europe: A Five Nation Comparison', in *Global Pathways to Abolishing Physical Punishment: Realizing Children's Rights*, J. Durrant and A. Smith, Editors. Routledge, New York, 2011.
- 71. Child Rights International Network, *Child Friendly Justice*, CRIN, London, 2017. www.crin.org/en/guides/legal/child-friendly-justice
- 72. United Nations General Assembly, United Nations Model Strategies and Practical Measures on the Elimination of Violence against Children in the Field of Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice. Sixty-Ninth Session, Third Committee, Agenda Item 105. Crime Prevention

and Criminal Justice. UN General Assembly, New York, 2014. www.unodc.org/pdf/criminal\_ justice/Model\_Strategies\_violence\_children.pdf

- 73. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, Planning the Implementation of the United Nations Model Strategies and Practical Measures on the Elimination of Violence against Children in the Field of Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice: A Checklist. United Nations, New York, 2015. www.unodc.org/documents/ justice-and-prison-reform/14–08452\_Ebook.pdf
- Usdin, Shereen, et al., 'The Value of Advocacy in Promoting Social Change: Implementing the New Domestic Violence Act in South Africa', *Reproductive Health Matters*, vol 8, no. 16, 2000, pp. 55–65.
- 75. Bott, Sarah, Andrew R. Morrison and Mary Ellsberg, 'Preventing and Responding to Gender-Based Violence in Middle and Low-Income Countries: A Global Review and Analysis'. Policy Research Working Paper. World Bank, Poverty Reduction and Economic Management Sector Unit, Gender and Development Group, Washington, DC, 2005. https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/handle/10986/8210
- 76. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, Planning the Implementation of the United Nations Model Strategies and Practical Measures on the Elimination of Violence against Children in the Field of Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice: A Checklist. UN, New York, 2015. www.unodc.org/documents/justiceand-prison-reform/14–08452\_Ebook.pdf
- 77. Veenema, Tener Goodwin, Clifton P. Thornton and Andrew Corley, 'The Public Health Crisis of Child Sexual Abuse in Low and Middle Income Countries: An Integrative Review of the Literature', *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, vol 52, no. 4, 2015, pp. 864–81.
- Finkelhor, David, et al., Updated Trends in Child Maltreatment, 2012. Crimes Against Children Research Center, University of New Hampshire, Durham, NH, 2013. www.unh.edu/ccrc/pdf/CV203\_ Updated trends 2012\_Revised\_2\_20\_14.pdf

- 79. Bott, Sarah, Andrew R. Morrison and Mary Ellsberg, 'Preventing and Responding to Gender-Based Violence in Middle and Low-Income Countries: A Global Review and Analysis'. Policy Research Working Paper. World Bank, Poverty Reduction and Economic Management Sector Unit, Gender and Development Group, Washington, DC, 2005. https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/handle/10986/8210
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women, *Global Guidance on Addressing School-Related Gender-Based Violence*. UNESCO and UN-Women, Paris, 2016. http://unesdoc.unesco. org/images/0024/002466/246651E.pdf
- Garcia-Moreno, Claudia, et al., 'The Health-Systems Response to Violence against Women', *Lancet*, vol 385, no. 9977, 2015, pp. 1567–79.
- 82. United Nations Children's Fund, Integrated Social Protection System: Enhancing Equity for Children. UNICEF, New York, 2012. www.unicef. org/socialprotection/framework/files/UNICEF\_ SPSFramework\_whole\_doc(1).pdf
- 83. Child Rights International Network, *Child Friendly Justice*, CRIN, London, 2017. www.crin.org/en/ guides/legal/child-friendly-justice
- 84. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, Planning the Implementation of the United Nations Model Strategies and Practical Measures on the Elimination of Violence against Children in the Field of Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice: A Checklist. United Nations, New York, 2015. www.unodc.org/documents/ justice-and-prison-reform/14–08452\_Ebook.pdf
- 85. United Nations Children's Fund, Children's Equitable Access to Justice: Central and Eastern Europe and Central Asia. UNICEF Regional Office for Central and Eastern Europe and the Commonwealth of Independent States (CEE/ CIS), Geneva, 2015. www.unicef.org/ceecis/ Equitable\_access\_to\_justice\_for\_children\_in\_ Central\_and\_Eastern\_Europe\_and\_Central\_ Asia\_-v2\_1.pdf

- 86. Global Social Service Workforce Alliance, Global Advocacy Toolkit for the Social Service Workforce. Global Social Service Workforce Alliance, Washington, DC, 2017. www. socialserviceworkforce.org/system/files/ resource/files/Global-Advocacy-Toolkit.pdf
- Global Child Protection Working Group, Inter Agency Guidelines for Case Management and Child Protection. A Guide for Policy and Program Managers and Caseworkers. CPWG, Case Management Taskforce, 2014. www.cpcnetwork.org/ wp-content/uploads/2014/08/CM\_guidelines\_ENG\_.pdf
- 88. United Nations Children's Fund, PrimeroTM (Protection-Related Information Management) Open Source Software Platform. UNICEF, UNHCR, IRC, Save the Children, UNFPA, DPKO and the Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General for Children and Armed Conflict, New York, n.d. www.primero.org/
- World Health Organizaion, Global Plan of Action to Strengthen the Role of the Health System within a National Multisectoral Response to Address Interpersonal Violence, in Particular against Women and Girls, and against Children. WHO, Geneva, 2016. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstre am/10665/252276/1/9789241511537-eng.pdf?ua=1
- 90. World Health Organization, 'Special Considerations for Medico-Legal Services for Child Victims'. In: Strengthening the Medico-Legal Response to Sexual Violence. WHO, UNODC and Stop Rape Now, Geneva, 2015. www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/ violence/medico-legal-response/en/
- 91. World Health Organization, *Responding to* Intimate Partner Violence and Sexual Violence against Women: WHO Clinical and Policy Guidelines. WHO, Geneva, 2013. www. who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/ violence/9789241548595/en/
- 92. International Rescue Committee and UNICEF, Caring for Child Survivors of Sexual Abuse: Guidelines for Health and Psychosocial Service Providers in Humanitarian Settings. IRC, New York, 2012. www.unicef.org/pacificislands/IRC\_ CCSGuide\_FullGuide\_lowres.pdf

- 93. Leach, Fiona, Máiréad Dunne and Francesca Salvi, School-Related Gender-Based Violence: A Global Review of Current Issues and Approaches in Policy, Programming and Implementation Responses to School-Related Gender-Based Violence (SRGBV) for the Education Sector. UNESCO, Paris, 2014. www.ungei.org/ index\_5709.html
- 94. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, School Violence and Bullying: Global Status Report. Education 2030. UNESCO, Paris, 2017. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0024/002469/246970e.pdf
- Kyegombe, N., et al., 'How Did the Good School Toolkit Reduce the Risk of Past Week Physical Violence from Teachers to Students? Qualitative Findings on Pathways of Change in Schools in Luwero, Uganda', *Social Science and Medicine*, vol 180, 2017, pp. 10–19.
- Devries, Karen M., et al., 'The Good School Toolkit for Reducing Physical Violence from School Staff to Primary School Students: A Cluster-Randomised Controlled Trial in Uganda', *Lancet Global Health*, vol 3, no. 7, 2015, pp. e378–386.
- 97. Global Coalition to Protect Education from Attack, Implementing the Guidelines: A Toolkit to Guide Understanding and Implementation of the Guidelines for Protecting Schools and Universities from Military Use During Armed Conflict, Global Coalition to Protect Education from Attack, 2016. http://protectingeducation.org/ sites/default/files/documents/toolkit.pdf
- 98. Inter-Agency Standing Committee, Guidelines for Integrating Gender-Based Violence Interventions in Humanitarian Action: Reducing Risk, Promoting Resilience and Aiding Recovery. IASC, New York, 2015. https://gbvguidelines.org/ wp-content/uploads/2015/09/2015-IASC-Genderbased-Violence-Guidelines\_lo-res.pdf
- 99. International Committee of the Red Cross, Interagency Guiding Principles on Unaccompanied and Separated Children. International Committee of the Red Cross, Geneva, 2004. <www.unicef.org/protection/ IAG\_UASCs.pdf

- United Nations Children's Fund, Risk-Informed Programming Guidance – Child Protection. UNICEF, New York, 2016.
- Daro, D. and K. A. Dodge, 'Creating Community Responsibility for Child Protection: Possibilities and Challenges', *Future of Children*, vol 19, no. 2, 2009, pp. 67–93.
- 102. Sood, Suruchi and Carmen Croni, 'C4D Approaches to Address Violence against Children (VAC): A Systematic Review'. Communication for Development Working Paper Series Number 3. UNICEF and Drexel University, New York, 2015.
- 103. United Nations Children's Fund, Child Disciplinary Practices at Home: Evidence from a Range of Low- and Middle-Income Countries. UNICEF, New York, 2010. www.unicef.org/protection/Child\_ Disciplinary\_Practices\_at\_Home.pdf
- 104. Guedes, Alessandra, et al., 'Bridging the Gaps: A Global Review of Intersections of Violence against Women and Violence against Children', *Global Health Action*, vol 9, no. 31316, 2016.
- 105. United Nations Children's Fund, *Hidden in Plain Sight: A Statistical Analysis of Violence against Children*, UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef. org/publications/index\_74865.html
- 106. Sommarin, Clara, et al., 'Preventing Sexual Violence and HIV in Children', *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, vol 66, no. 2 Suppl, 2014, pp. S217-S223.
- 107. Sood, Suruchi and Carmen Croni, 'C4D Approaches to Address Violence against Children (VAC): A Systematic Review'. Communication for Development Working Paper Series Number 3. UNICEF and Drexel University, New York, 2015.
- Radford, Lorraine, Debbie Allnock and Patricia Hynes, 'Preventing and Responding to Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation: Evidence Review'. UNICEF, New York, 2015.
- 109. Fulu, Emma and Lori Heise, 'What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls', Evidence Reviews. Paper 1. State of Research on Violence against Women and Girls. United Kingdom Department for International

Development, What Works Programme, London, 2015. www.whatworks.co.za/ documents/publications/16-global-evidencereviews-paper-1-state-of-the-field-of-research-onviolence-against-women-and-girls/file

- World Health Organization, *INSPIRE: Seven* Strategies for Ending Violence against Children.
   WHO, CDC, Global Partnership to End Violence Against Children, PAHO, PEPFAR, TfG, UNICEF, UNODC, USAID, World Bank, Geneva, 2016.
   www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/media/ news/2016/12\_07/en/
- Akmatov, M. K., 'Child Abuse in 28 Developing and Transitional Countries–Results from the Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol 40, no. 1, 2011, pp. 219–27.
- 112. Veenema, Tener Goodwin, Clifton P. Thornton and Andrew Corley, 'The Public Health Crisis of Child Sexual Abuse in Low and Middle Income Countries: An Integrative Review of the Literature', *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, vol 52, no. 4, 2015, pp. 864–81.
- 113. United Nations Children's Fund, Social Cash Transfers and Children's Outcomes: A Review of Evidence from Africa. UNICEF, New York, 2015. www.unicef.org/esaro/Social\_Cash\_Transfer\_ Publication\_ESARO\_December\_2015.pdf
- 114. United Nations Children's Fund, Child Disciplinary Practices at Home: Evidence from a Range of Low-and Middle-Income Countries. UNICEF, New York, 2010. www.unicef.org/protection/Child\_ Disciplinary\_Practices\_at\_Home.pdf
- Akmatov, M. K., 'Child Abuse in 28 Developing and Transitional Countries--Results from the Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol 40, no. 1, 2011, pp. 219–27.
- Heise, Lori L. and Andreas Kotsadam, 'Cross-National and Multilevel Correlates of Partner Violence: An Analysis of Data from Population-Based Surveys', *Lancet Global Health*, vol 3, no. 6, 2015, pp. e332–40.

- 117. Veenema, Tener Goodwin, Clifton P. Thornton and Andrew Corley, 'The Public Health Crisis of Child Sexual Abuse in Low and Middle Income Countries: An Integrative Review of the Literature', *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, vol 52, no. 4, 2015, pp. 864–81.
- 118. World Health Organization, INSPIRE: Seven Strategies for Ending Violence against Children. WHO, CDC, Global Partnership to End Violence Against Children, PAHO, PEPFAR, TfG, UNICEF, UNODC, USAID, World Bank, Geneva, 2016. www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/media/ news/2016/12\_07/en/
- 119. United Nations Children's Fund, Social Cash Transfers and Children's Outcomes: A Review of Evidence from Africa. UNICEF, New York, 2015. www.unicef.org/esaro/Social\_Cash\_Transfer\_ Publication\_ESARO\_December\_2015.pdf
- 120. Peterman, Amber, et al., 'Understanding the Linkages between Social Safety Nets and Childhood Violence: A Review of the Evidence from Lowand Middle-Income Countries', *Health Policy and Planning*, vol 32, no. 7, 2017, pp 1049–1071.
- 121. Daly, Mary, et al., Family and Parenting Support: Policy and Provision in a Global Context. UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti, Florence, Italy, 2015. www.unicef-irc.org/publications/ pdf/01 family\_support\_layout\_web.pdf
- 122. Bonilla, Juan, et al., 'Cash for Women's Empowerment: A Mixed Methods Evaluation of the Government of Zambia's Child Grant Programme.' Innocenti Working Paper WP-2016–01. UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti, Florence, Italy, 2016. www.unicef-irc.org/ publications/pdf/iwp\_2016\_01.pdf
- 123. Daly, Mary, et al., Family and Parenting Support: Policy and Provision in a Global Context. UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti, Florence, Italy, 2015. www.unicef-irc.org/publications/ pdf/01 family\_support\_layout\_web.pdf
- 124. Knerr, W., F. Gardner and L. Cluver, 'Improving Positive Parenting Skills and Reducing Harsh and Abusive Parenting in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review', *Prevention Science*, vol 14, no. 4, 2013, pp. 352–63.

- 125. Radford, Lorraine, Debbie Allnock and Patricia Hynes, *Preventing and Responding to Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation: Evidence Review.* UNICEF, New York, 2015.
- 126. Veenema, Tener Goodwin, Clifton P. Thornton and Andrew Corley, 'The Public Health Crisis of Child Sexual Abuse in Low and Middle Income Countries: An Integrative Review of the Literature', *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, vol 52, no. 4, 2015, pp. 864–81.
- 127. Knerr, Wendy, Frances Gardner and Lucie Cluver, Parenting and the Prevention of Child Maltreatment in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review of Interventions and a Discussion of Prevention of the Risks of Future Violent Behaviour among Boys. Sexual Violence Research Initiative, Medical Research Council and the Oak Foundation, Pretoria, 2011. www.svri.org/parenting.pdf
- 128. Knerr, W., F. Gardner and L. Cluver, 'Improving Positive Parenting Skills and Reducing Harsh and Abusive Parenting in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review', *Prevention Science*, vol 14, no. 4, 2013, pp. 352–63.
- 129. World Health Organization, INSPIRE: Seven Strategies for Ending Violence against Children. WHO, CDC, Global Partnership to End Violence Against Children, PAHO, PEPFAR, TfG, UNICEF, UNODC, USAID, World Bank, Geneva, 2016. www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/media/ news/2016/12\_07/en/
- United Nations Children's Fund, Ending Violence against Children: Six Strategies for Action. UNICEF, New York, 2014. www.unicef.org/ publications/index\_74866.html
- 131. Landers, Cassie, Preventing and Responding to Violence, Abuse, and Neglect in Early Childhood: A Technical Background Document. Child Protection Section, UNICEF, New York, 2013. www.unicef.org/protection/files/Report\_on\_ preventing\_and\_responding\_to\_violence\_in\_early\_ childhood\_2013\_Cassie\_Landers.pdf

- 132. Leach, Fiona, Máiréad Dunne and Francesca Salvi, School-Related Gender-Based Violence: A Global Review of Current Issues and Approaches in Policy, Programming and Implementation Responses to School-Related Gender-Based Violence (SRGBV) for the Education Sector. UNESCO, Paris, 2014. www.ungei.org/ index\_5709.html
- 133. Stanley, N., et al., 'Preventing Domestic Abuse for Children and Young People: A Review of School-Based Interventions', *Children and Youth Services Review*, vol 59, 2015, pp. 120–131.
- 134. Denno, D. M., A. J. Hoopes and Venkatraman Chandra-Mouli, 'Effective Strategies to Provide Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health Services and to Increase Demand and Community Support', *Journal of Adolescent Health*, vol 56, no. 1 Suppl, 2015, pp. S22–41.
- 135. Chandra-Mouli, Venkatraman, Catherine Lane and Sylvia Wong, 'What Does Not Work in Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health: A Review of Evidence on Interventions Commonly Accepted as Best Practices', *Global Health: Science and Practice*, vol 3, no. 3, 2015, pp. 333–340.
- 136. Peterman, Amber, et al., 'Understanding the Linkages between Social Safety Nets and Childhood Violence: A Review of the Evidence from Low- and Middle-Income Countries', *Health Policy and Planning*, vol 32, no. 7, 2017, pp. 1049– 1071.
- 137. Cluver, Lucie, et al., 'Child-Focused State Cash Transfers and Adolescent Risk of HIV Infection in South Africa: A Propensity-Score-Matched Case-Control Study', *Lancet Global Health*, vol 1, no. 6, 2013, pp. e362–70.
- 138. Watson, Carol and Tia Palermo, Options for a 'Cash Plus' Intervention to Enhance Adolescent Well-Being in Tanzania: An Introduction and Review of the Evidence from Different Programme Models in Eastern and Southern Africa. UNICEF Office of Research–Innocenti, Florence, Italy, 2016. www.unicef-irc.org/files/ documents/d-3885-Social\_Protection\_Plus\_ Workshop\_Background\_Paper.pdf

- 139. Radford, Lorraine, Debbie Allnock and Patricia Hynes, *Preventing and Responding to Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation: Evidence Review.* UNICEF, New York, 2015.
- 140. Landers, Cassie, Preventing and Responding to Violence, Abuse, and Neglect in Early Childhood: A Technical Background Document. Child Protection Section, UNICEF, New York, 2013. www.unicef.org/protection/files/Report\_on\_ preventing\_and\_responding\_to\_violence\_in\_early\_ childhood\_2013\_Cassie\_Landers.pdf
- 141. Veenema, T. G., C. P. Thornton and A. Corley, 'The Public Health Crisis of Child Sexual Abuse in Low and Middle Income Countries: An Integrative Review of the Literature', *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, vol 52, no. 4, 2015, pp. 864–81.
- 142. Runyan, Desmond, et al., 'Child Abuse and Neglect by Parents and Other Caregivers', in *World Report on Violence and Health*, E.G. Krug, et al., Editors. World Health Organization, Geneva, 2002, pp. 57–86. www.who.int/ violence\_injury\_prevention/violence/world\_ report/en/
- 143. Meinck, F., et al., 'Risk and Protective Factors for Physical and Sexual Abuse of Children and Adolescents in Africa: A Review and Implications for Practice', *Trauma, Violence and Abuse*, vol 16, no. 1, 2015, pp. 81–107.
- 144. Fulu, Emma and Lori Heise, What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls, Evidence Reviews. Paper 1. State of Research on Violence against Women and Girls. UK Department for International Development, What Works Programme, London, 2015. www.whatworks. co.za/documents/publications/16-global-evidencereviews-paper-1-state-of-the-field-of-research-onviolence-against-women-and-girls/file

- 145. Sommarin, Clara, et al., 'Preventing Sexual Violence and HIV in Children', *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, vol 66, no. 2 Supplement, 2014, pp. S217-S223.
- 146. Pereda, N., et al., 'The International Epidemiology of Child Sexual Abuse: A Continuation of Finkelhor (1994)', *Child Abuse* and Neglect, vol 33, no. 6, 2009, pp. 331–42.
- 147. UNICEF, The State of the World's Children 2013: Children with Disabilities. UNICEF, New York, 2013. www.unicef.org/sowc2013/files/ SWCR2013\_ENG\_Lo\_res\_24\_Apr\_2013.pdf
- 148. Jewkes, R., et al., 'Prevalence of and Factors Associated with Non-Partner Rape Perpetration: Findings from the UN Multi-Country Cross-Sectional Study on Men and Violence in Asia and the Pacific', *Lancet Global Health*, vol 1, no. 4, 2013, pp. e208–18.
- 149. Tharp, A. T., et al., 'A Systematic Qualitative Review of Risk and Protective Factors for Sexual Violence Perpetration', *Trauma, Violence and Abuse*, vol 14, no. 2, 2013, pp. 133–67.



Published by UNICEF Child Protection Section Programme Division 3 United Nations Plaza New York, NY 10017

Email: childprotection@unicef.org www.unicef.org

© United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) October 2017